



S

Fraunhofer CINES

The Digital Transformation of the Energy System – 14 Theses for Success

Publishing notes

Theses on the digital transformation of the energy system

Project management

Fraunhofer Cluster of Excellence Integrated Energy Systems

EUREF Campus 23 – 24, 10829 Berlin Wickert, Manuel, manuel.wickert@iee.fraunhofer.de

Responsible for text content

Bergsträßer, Jonathan, jonathan.bergstraesser@iee.fraunhofer.de Gkoktsis, George, george.gkoktsis@sit.fraunhofer.de Hirsch, Tilo, tilo.hirsch@iosb-ast.fraunhofer.de Klaiber, Stefan, stefan.klaiber@iosb-ast.fraunhofer.de Klobasa, Marian, marian.klobasa@isi.fraunhofer.de Kohrs, Robert, robert.kohrs@ise.fraunhofer.de Lauer, Hagen, hagen.lauer@sit.fraunhofer.de Nicolai, Steffen, steffen.nicolai@iosb-ast.fraunhofer.de Offergeld, Thomas, thomas.offergeld@fit.fraunhofer.de Rülicke, Linda, linda.ruelicke@iee.fraunhofer.de Schmidt, Dietrich, dietrich.schmidt@iee.fraunhofer.de Warweg, Oliver, oliver.warweg@iosb-ast.fraunhofer.de Welisch, Marijke, marijke.welisch@zv.fraunhofer.de Wende-von Berg, Sebastian, sebastian.wende-von.berg@iee.fraunhofer.de Werner, Daniel, daniel.werner@ise.fraunhofer.de Wickert, Manuel, manuel.wickert@iee.fraunhofer.de

Moderation und facilitation

Stefan Rötzel, roetzel@sciencepark-kassel.de, Science Park Kassel GmbH

Published

September 2022

Notes

This report, including all its parts, is protected by copyright. To the best of our knowledge, we believe that this information has been compiled in accordance with the principles of good scientific practice. The authors are acting on the assumption that the information in this report is correct, complete and up to date, but do not accept liability for any errors, whether explicit or implied.

Table of contents

Manage	ement summary	.4
1	Introduction	.8
2	Energy supply transformation and trends	10
2.1	Energy security and high energy prices	.11
2.2	Sector coupling in the transportation sector	13
2.3	Transformation of the heat supply	15
2.4	Power grid transformation	17
2.5	Providing flexibility	19
2.6	Transformation of the stakeholder landscape	20
2.7	User-centricity and active participation of users	21
2.8	Energy system resilience	22
3	Digital transformation trends	23
3.1	Data spaces	23
3.2	Internet of Things	24
3.3	Cloud computing	24
3.4	Edge computing	24
3.5	Distributed ledger technologies	25
3.6	Quantum computing	25
3.7	Artificial intelligence	25
3.8	Digital twins	26
3.9	Mobile networks	26
3.10	Data protection and privacy	27
4	State of the digital transformation of the energy system	32
4.1	Data economy	33
4.2	Sector coupling Fehler! Textmarke nicht definie	rt.
4.3	Plant communication	39
4.4	Grid operation and planning	41
4.5	Cybersecurity in the energy system	42
5	The digital transformation of the energy system — 14 theses for success 4	45
5.1	Focus on data economy	46
5.2	Focus on sector coupling	52
5.3	Focus on plant communication	57
5.4	Focus on grid operation and planning	61
5.5	Focus on cybersecurity	66

5.6	The European dimension	69
6	Conclusion	70
7	List of figures	72
8	Bibliography	73

Management summary

Digital transformation is affecting all areas of our lives, economy and society — not least our energy system, which has seen digital technologies playing a key role for a number of years now. This is particularly evident in the field of renewable energies, which require a higher degree of coordination due to their decentralized and diverse nature. This study aims to contribute to the next stages of the digital transformation of the energy system. For this purpose, the study puts forward 14 theses and highlights their implications for energy system stakeholders. In doing so, the theses contribute to discussions around energy policy, prompt calls to policy makers and devise concrete recommendations for action.

The theses are divided into five focal points which result from an analysis of the most relevant trends in energy system transformation and digital transformation. Based on the identified focal points, the study specifically describes the state of the digital transformation of the energy system. This is by no means an exhaustive list but is based on the objective of focusing on short- to medium-term measures (up to 2030). The following focal points were selected due to the fact that they offer the greatest leverage for supporting the climate-neutral energy sector with digital tools.

Given that data volumes are increasing rapidly, the economic potential of data is becoming more and more relevant — in the context of the so-called **data economy**. Progressive technical options for measuring, storing and analyzing data are fueling business models based on such data. What's more, the use of data spaces ensures that data can be handled autonomously and stored in a decentralized manner. This enables innovative artificial intelligence methods to be integrated into critical infrastructures and considerably increases the efficiency of all energy sector processes.

Digital **sector coupling** is another relevant area in which digital transformation will gain importance in the near future. Power-to-mobility, power-to-heat and power-to-gas/H2 are particularly noteworthy examples. When it comes to sector coupling, digital transformation must take on an (even) stronger role, and digitalized control is a crucial factor.

Plant communication remains essential for the digital transformation of the energy sector. There are two primary areas of interest here. The first is at the technical level and covers device data communication with and via the smart meter gateway. The second focuses on the regulatory level and involves data communication between individual market players in the liberalized energy market.

This form of communication is closely interlinked with increasingly **digitalized grid operation** — which, due to growing complexity, also increasingly requires digital grid planning. The digital transformation has gained a considerable amount of momentum at the different grid levels and has been implemented in the maximum-voltage and high-voltage grids in particular. This trend needs to progress into the lower voltage levels to support the grid with system services.

Cybersecurity is the last area addressed in the study and is currently at the forefront of the digitalized energy system. Considering that supply security is one of the most pertinent energy policy targets, cybersecurity must be regarded as an essential aspect of the digitalized energy system. In this context, it is not enough to focus solely on defending systems against attacks. Instead, the possibility of faults and vulnerabilities needs to be taken into account when designing systems.

For all these key topics, the study authors have formulated theses which are designed to provide a stimulus for a European strategy for the digital transformation of energy supplies, rather than merely offering a national perspective. However, the authors did prioritize the German regulatory and legal situation for their analysis and concrete recommendations for action. The following 14 theses — derived from the current state of the digital transformation of the energy system — emphasize the potential and reveal obstacles for the digital transformation of the various sectors on a larger scale. The study specifically contains comprehensive information about the significance for stakeholders in the energy sector, messages to policy makers, and concrete recommendations for action. The theses are summarized as follows:

Thesis 1: In the future, the value of energy will depend on linked data

The market value of energy normally depends heavily on uncertainties caused by weather-related supply, among other factors. The more data and information available, the easier it is to decrease the number of uncertainties. In addition to uncertainties, the origin of energy is growing steadily in importance (green properties). In both cases, energy can gain value with additional data and proper management in the face of uncertainties, or through its green properties.

Thesis 2: Digitally driven value creation networks are the future of the energy system

Effective and targeted digital transformation should not be used to automate existing processes, but should create a new process landscape, transforming value chains into value creation networks. New business models in the energy sector must be consistently thought of in digital terms and, in particular, actively involve users.

Thesis 3: A sovereign and resilient European energy system requires an EU-based ICT system

Resilient energy supply in a digitalized energy supply system must also fully take into account the dependencies created by ICT components. As a first step, these must become transparent to the stakeholders — especially in critical processes. The singular dependencies which are identified must then either be resolved or, alternatively, ended by means of global diversification. EU dependence on basic ICT components (hardware and software) from non-EU countries must therefore be reduced.

Thesis 4: Without digitalized sector coupling, the costs of transforming energy systems will rise significantly

Integrating energy systems creates a high level of complexity. Without extensive digital transformation, especially at the interfaces between individual systems, sector coupling is not economically viable and cannot be implemented in practice.

Thesis 5: Viable energy business models for digitalized sector coupling at the district level are currently failing due to regulatory hurdles

Particularly at the district level, where heat, gas and electricity must be progressively integrated, the macroeconomic benefits (e.g., reduction of peak loads at the integration points) of digital business models cannot be monetized. In this scenario, regulations need to be adapted to enable worthwhile, digitalized sector coupling at the district level.

Thesis 6: Efficient decarbonization of the heating sector can only be achieved through digital transformation

Just like the technological transformation of the heating sector, the digital transformation of the heating sector is still in its infancy. The two must go hand in hand to enable rapid and efficient implementation. In this context, there is great potential, especially when it comes to flexibilizing the consumer side.

Thesis 7: The smart metering system are being overtaken by other solutions in plant communication

The smart meter rollout is subject to continued delays and is becoming less and less valuable for the individual stakeholders due to information channels to the plants that have been established in the meantime. Nowadays, manufacturer clouds are able to reach a large number of plants using communication technology. Data exchange partnerships (such as between grid operators and manufacturers) can already leverage great potential, e.g., in developing flexible properties on a broad scale.

Thesis 8: The energy transition requires plant communication based on the latest IT technologies and open documentation

The numerous elements of plant communication rely on communication standards that were developed in the early days of telecontrol technology and for which no further development is planned. New energy plants in particular should use modern IoT protocols that are openly documented.

Thesis 9: Modern plant communication enables plug-and-play and cross-stakeholder process automation

Due to the enormous amount of small and micro-plants that will be actively involved in energy system management in the future, it is no longer possible to manually connect plants. The following measures are required: automating connections, automating the change of an aggregator, for example, and automating all processes to ensure operational readiness.

Thesis 10: Digital transformation is a core area of expertise in future power grid operations

Digital transformation is becoming an ever more integral part of power grid operations. Grid operators will therefore have to build up their digital transformation expertise within their own company. Cooperation networks offer support for this purpose, especially for smaller grid operators. Viewing digital transformation merely as a purchasable service fails to recognize the impact of technology.

Thesis 11: Decentralized energy transition equals complete digital transformation right down to the lower grid levels

The substantial expansion of plants (decentralized generation and new consumers) in the lower grid levels requires active digitalized management of all of the distribution grids. This makes it possible to ensure the supply quality and availability when it comes to switching from pure consumers to prosumers. At the same time, the necessary grid expansion can be supported in a targeted manner and to the necessary extent.

Thesis 12: Timely implementation of the energy transition can only succeed by ensuring the complete digital transformation of planning and approval processes

Transforming the energy system requires enormous infrastructure investments, which are operationalized in various planning and approval processes. The underlying processes and interfaces must be digitalized to make the ambitious schedule possible with regard to approval law.

Thesis 13: Cyber resilience will replace cybersecurity

Viewing the digitalized energy system as an infrastructure that only requires adequate protection falls short of the mark. On the contrary, all stakeholders must understand that — given the complex nature of the system — complete protection is no longer feasible. The digital energy system of the future must therefore be able to deal with errors and faults.

Thesis 14: Reliable energy networks require reliable communication networks

Digital transformation means that energy networks and communication networks are increasingly interconnected. As a result, they depend directly on one another to ensure reliability. The requirements for a reliable energy supply must therefore also be derived from the communication infrastructures used for operation.

Summary

In summary, the authors believe that digital transformation is key to implementing the energy transition. Without far-reaching and consistent digital transformation ranging from plant control, through the entire grid cascade to the individual sectors, a timely and cost-effective energy transition is not feasible. A data economy may enable the required cross-stakeholder process automation. To further increase the security of the energy supply, cyber resilience must also play a major role in a European digital transformation strategy for the energy system.

1 Introduction

Digital technologies are already shaping the energy system — and their role will become increasingly relevant in the future. There is huge potential for digital transformation in the renewable, decentralized energy system of the future. To enable this potential to be developed in an optimum and swift manner, all stakeholders from business, politics, research and civil society must now set the right course. And to do this, relevant research findings must be combined and put into practice. Within this remit, Fraunhofer Energy Research wants to take a joint position on the digital transformation of the energy sector to be able to provide guidelines for successful, sustainable, cost-efficient and rapid implementation. To this end, the following study presents a coordinated outlook with concrete recommendations for action.

The most relevant innovation drivers for the digital transformation of the energy sector have been determined for this purpose in order to establish the areas of the energy sector and the digital transformation tools where there is a great need for action as well as great potential for optimization through the digital transformation. The ongoing energy crisis now, once again, highlights the urgent need for action when it comes to the transformation of the energy system. As a result of this, particular focus will be placed on targets to be achieved in the short and medium term (up to 2030).

The most relevant innovation drivers result from trends that are currently shaping energy system transformation and the corresponding trends in the area of digital transformation. In addition to the overriding issues of energy security and high energy prices, the study highlights other, longer-term **trends in the energy sector** that are particularly significant for the next steps in the transformation.

After assessing the **general trends in the digital transformation**, the study specifically describes the state of the digital transformation of the energy system. The focus here is on areas where short-term to medium-term measures (up to 2030) can help accelerate the energy transition and implement it more efficiently. The following areas offer the greatest leverage for supporting the climate-neutral energy sector with digital tools:

- Data economy
- Sector coupling
- Plant communication
- Grid operation and planning
- Cybersecurity in the energy system

The thesis study has been fundamentally built on the cooperation of the Fraunhofer institutes of the Cluster of Excellence CINES. As part of this cooperation, an interdisciplinary team of scientists compiled an overarching statement by Fraunhofer Energy Research on the state of the digital transformation of the energy system.

The process for this was as follows: A systemic scenario analysis of the digital transformation of the energy system was carried out as part of a moderated process. Relevant key factors and stakeholders were then characterized and prioritized, and relevant fields of application for the digital transformation of the energy supply up to 2030 were identified. In doing so, technological and social trends and the resulting uncertainties and open questions for the future were discussed.

By formulating three alternative visions of the future, various characteristics, interactions and system dynamics of these key factors and stakeholders have been brought to the fore. The best-case scenario addressed an ideal transformation of the energy system, hand in hand with a successful digital transformation. The business-as-usual scenario addressed a low level of digital transformation together with a somewhat hesitant energy transition. The worst-case scenario, however, provided an antithesis for these two scenarios with a long drawn-out energy transition and undervalued digital transformation.

Following the discussion surrounding these future projections, five relevant fields of action were structured and draft theses were created. These draft theses were scrutinized and optimized in several discussion sessions involving external experts from energy supply companies, grid operators, industry associations, manufacturers and service providers who were able to provide constructive criticism and boost momentum, both through online questionnaires and in structured discussion sessions. On the basis of this interaction between science and practice, the project group then honed the theses for the "Digitalized Transformation of the Energy System up to 2030". Particular importance was placed on addressing target groups in an accessible way and formulating concrete recommendations for action, broken down by target group.

The study is structured as follows: Chapter 1 describes the transformation and associated trends of the energy system, which can be understood as requirements for the deployment of technological innovations. Chapter 2 sets out technological trends in the digital transformation, with the focus on tools that have current or potential future application in the energy sector. Chapters 3 and 4 are divided into key topics; chapter 3 begins by describing the state of the digital transformation and chapter 4 builds on this by presenting theses and recommendations for action intended to stimulate discussion on the future design of the digital transformation of the energy system. A conclusion and summary are provided at the end of the study.

2 Energy supply transformation and trends

The energy sector is facing the major challenge of ensuring sustainability and energy supply security in the long term and dealing with an increasingly diversified market environment. The very high energy prices that are currently being seen compared with previous years, as well as possible supply bottlenecks for fossil fuels, are also key developments in the energy sector that are leading to the sector's comprehensive transformation. In the following, we present relevant trends, new and changed tasks, and business models in the energy sector that can support and accelerate a transformation and are already emerging today. Sustainability and energy security are influencing the development of energy infrastructures and leading to greater integration of the entire energy system [1]. The decarbonization of all fields is causing the industrial, heating and transportation sectors to forge strong links with the electricity sector and increases the complexity and interconnectedness of all of these sectors. The digital transformation plays an important role here as an enabler and facilitator, so that the necessary changes to energy sector processes can be implemented more quickly and efficiently.

Significant expansion of renewable energies

The climate policy goals from the Paris Agreement require significant expansion of renewable energies worldwide, including in Europe and Germany, and at the same time demand a further increase in energy efficiency across all fields [2]. The German federal government's Easter Package aims to achieve greenhouse gas neutrality as early as 2045 and therefore to expand the annual expansion of renewable energies to around 23 gigawatts for photovoltaic systems and around 10 gigawatts for onshore wind turbines [3]. With an average photovoltaic system capacity of 20 kilowatts, this corresponds to more than 1 million photovoltaic systems per year (nearly 200,000 in 2021). In the onshore wind sector, with an average turbine capacity of 4,000 kilowatts, the targeted expansion corresponds to 2,500 turbines annually (484 in 2021). This means that significantly more connection inquiries and planning processes can be expected in the future.

At the European level, the EU Commission's RePowerEU plan aims to reduce dependence on Russian gas, oil and coal and accelerate the expansion of renewable energies [4]. To this end, solar capacity is to be doubled in the EU by 2030, approval procedures are to be simplified, and 10 million tons of renewable hydrogen are to be produced in the EU by 2030.

"The rate of expansion for renewable energies will increase significantly."

How is this trend reflected in long-term transformation scenarios?

Analyses of long-term transformation pathways indicate that the electricity sector could produce significantly more electricity, primarily provided by onshore wind, as well as photovoltaic systems and offshore wind. According to scenario analyses, net electricity imports could also increase.



Figure 1: Electricity generation in Germany in 2030 and 2050 by energy source

Source: Long-term scenarios from the German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action (BMWK) 2021

2.1 Energy security and high energy prices

In the wake of the crisis in Ukraine, the availability of natural gas from Russia is very limited and new suppliers play an important role in German energy supply. At the same time, limited availability has a significant impact on the prices of various energy sources, including electricity in particular. As a result of this, information on availability and electricity prices is becoming more and more relevant. Industrial companies are faced with the challenge of maintaining their previous value creation even in a decarbonized energy system and producing at sometimes significantly higher energy prices in the future.

"Predictable energy prices and security of supply are the basis for industrial value creation."

In addition to national generation based on renewable energies, importing energy sources via existing infrastructures, from Europe and beyond, to Germany is of great importance for future energy security and energy price levels. The use of hydrogen as an energy source and as a raw material, especially in industry, will gain in importance. This will also result in the need for new infrastructure, especially for the transport of hydrogen.

How is this trend reflected in long-term transformation scenarios?

In the industrial sector, long-term decarbonization scenarios show that electricity and hydrogen are gaining much more importance as energy sources. This will require additional infrastructure for transporting the energy sources. In addition, there will be greater flexibility in the industrial sector when production processes are more closely aligned with fluctuating renewable energies, plus the expansion of storage options. At the same time, an increase in energy efficiency as a decarbonization strategy is also an effective way of reducing overall energy demand. Scenario calculations indicate a 23 percent reduction in final energy demand in industry compared to 2015.

Figure 2: Transformation in the industrial sector by energy source and final energy demand in Germany up to 2050



Source: Long-term scenarios from the German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action (BMWK) 2021

2.2 Sector coupling in the transportation sector

Decarbonization strategies play a significant role for the energy system as a whole, as well as for individual stakeholders. This means that information on the current status of energy consumption and the associated emissions is becoming increasingly relevant. On this basis, a large number of stakeholders are developing measures to reduce their emissions. Two fields of application where this is particularly relevant are electromobility and the heating sector, with power-to-heat applications. In the current coalition agreement, the market ramp-up of electromobility with 15 million electric vehicles by 2030 has been defined as a target and represents a central strategy for the decarbonization of the transportation sector. The increasing number of vehicles results in additional electricity demand for vehicle charging and, according to the current scenario framework of the network development plan, this may rise to over 100 terawatt-hours by 2037. At the same time, vehicle batteries also represent a decentralized storage system, which results in new tasks for the energy sector, such as smart, bidirectional charging, as well as improved self-sufficiency in supply.

"New digital business models are emerging for electromobility."

How is this trend reflected in long-term transformation scenarios?

In addition to a significant increase in energy efficiency, electricity and synthetic fuels used as energy sources will make the biggest contribution to possible decarbonization in the transportation sector in the future. Based on scenario calculations, final energy demand should decrease by 50 percent in the transportation sector, much of which could be achieved by cars and trucks. The expansion of electromobility could enable significant efficiency improvements and would also lead to a sharp increase in the use of electricity as an energy source in the transportation sector. In addition to electricity, the use of hydrogen and synthetic fuels (especially in shipping and aviation) is a decarbonization option to be taken seriously.

Figure 3: Scenarios for the transformation of the energy demand in transportation up to 2050



The development of electromobility has seen a sharp rise in recent months — so much so that around 14 percent of new vehicle registrations are now battery electric vehicles. Due to the vehicles' increasingly large batteries, business models for smart charging and for supporting the power grid are now the subject of intense discussion [5]. Cheaper electricity with supply-oriented charging or high availability of renewable electricity will benefit individual users. Other energy effects in the overall system are higher grid utilization if battery charging does not take place at peak load times, but also higher grid loads at peak times if charging processes increasingly take place at the same time. For effective grid integration, customers and power grids must be connected by fast and automated data exchange to enable the use of flexibility potentials that benefit customers and improve grid efficiency. This also avoids high grid load and does not overly affect customer acceptance.

Service-oriented offers that couple electric vehicles with a self-sufficient supply and thereby enable optimized operation in combination with an own generation plant are becoming more relevant for the users of these e-vehicles. To provide flexibility using vehicle batteries at public or workplace charging points, small-scale marketing of energy quantities is of increasing importance. A number of different business models have now been developed by energy sector stakeholders, as well as by vehicle manufacturers themselves [6]. The most important applications are as follows:

- Optimized charging strategies (depending on the generation situation and generation costs)
- Providing system services
- Relieving grid congestion and avoiding peak loads
- Assisting with voltage maintenance
- Avoiding feed-in management
- Optimizing self-sufficient supply
- Optimized use of high-power chargers

"The development and integration of charging infrastructure is a challenge for distribution grids."

The expected increase in electric vehicles will require a comprehensive development of charging infrastructure that must be integrated into existing power grids. It is expected that a large part of the charging infrastructure will be installed in the private sector (especially in single-family and two-family homes) and in workplaces. In addition, the expansion of a public charging infrastructure with medium and high charging capacities is planned in order to make electromobility attractive for longer distances and for users without their own charging facilities [7]. Extensive expansion of the charging infrastructure means that battery storage units in electric vehicles can be used to store energy. In the future, it will be possible to implement vehicle-to-grid (V2G) concepts [6, 8] with suitable communication and control technologies (OCPP/ISO standards) and complement or even replace existing applications for efficient grid operation.

2.3 Transformation of the heat supply

In contrast to the electricity sector, the transformation of the heat supply is progressing rather more slowly. While the share of renewable energies making up final energy consumption rose from around 2 percent in 1990 to 14 percent in 2012, decarbonization of the heat supply has since stagnated at this level. Heat generated from renewable sources is currently obtained mainly from the combustion of solid biomass in private households, while other renewable sources, such as environmental heat, solar thermal energy and geothermal systems, so far generate only 2 percent of the heat required. Fossil fuels, such as natural gas (46 percent) and oil (15 percent), continue to be the dominant energy sources. Although the share of energy taken up with space heating, hot water and process heat is declining due to efficiency improvements, it still accounts for just under half of final energy consumption today, making it the largest consumption sector ahead of electricity and transportation.

How is this trend reflected in long-term transformation scenarios?

The transformation in the heating sector, which includes not only space heating for buildings but also hot water, is characterized in long-term scenarios by a significant increase in energy efficiency and a shift in energy sources away from gas toward electricity. Possible future scenarios for the building sector show a reduction in final energy demand of 41 percent by 2050 compared to 2020. Heat pumps will make a significant contribution to the heat supply in 2050 and, according to scenario calculations, could increase their share from 5 percent in 2020 to almost 60 percent in 2050. At the same time, the share of final energy demand provided by heating networks will increase from less than 10 percent in 2020 to 25 percent in 2050.

Figure 4: Scenarios for the transformation of the energy demand in heating for buildings up to 2050



Source: Long-term scenarios from the German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action (BMWK) 2021

Due to the current geopolitical situation, but also due to the increasingly visible effects of climate change, the transformation of the heat supply through decarbonization and sector coupling is becoming more significant and more urgent in Germany and Europe. Thus, the heat supply in particular will experience long-lasting and far-reaching development.

"The electrification and transformation of heating networks are key technologies in the heating sector."

In addition to increasing energy efficiency and the associated savings in heat consumption, other fields of action for transforming heat supply are currently coming to the fore. This includes the widespread decarbonization of heat generation across the sector. Efficiency improvements and the comprehensive integration of heat pumps into the heat supply as well as the necessary expansion of the grid-based heat supply are also important key technologies in this transformation. In addition to the provision of space heating and heat for domestic hot water, process heat is an important area of transformation, in particular as it cannot simply be electrified or otherwise substituted, especially at higher temperature levels in many fields of industry with intensive energy use. By using gases from power-to-gas plants, the heating sector can play an important role as both a consumer and a storage facility for energy from wind and solar power. In order to efficiently integrate additional renewable generators and waste heat from industrial and other processes into the heating system, existing district heating networks need to be transformed to low system temperatures and new, low-temperature local heating networks need to be implemented. The storage of renewably generated heat in large-scale, long-term storage facilities is also an important building block for local transformation. Long timeframes of decades are anticipated for the corresponding plant technology and infrastructure, so the heat supply transformation is taking a correspondingly long time.

2.4 Power grid transformation

Grid operations have become both much more agile and more volatile over the past 20 years. The state of play has progressed from purely consumption-driven grid operation — with centralized feed-in primarily in the extra-high voltage range — through large fossil-fuel power plants, to a decentralized system, in which feed-in from all grid levels plays a significant role in addition to consumption. This situation offers completely new challenges for all parties involved, as well as new and innovative opportunities to make grid operation more safe and secure, more stable and more efficient. Digital transformation and automation are already playing an important role here, and this will continue to increase in the future.

In an energy system that is based only on renewable energies, the coordination between generators, consumers and grid operators becomes more complex; in some cases, very small-scale coordination between a large number of stakeholders in various energy sector processes (including marketing and Redispatch) is necessary. The digital transformation of the data landscape in the field of power grids allows processes to be automated and therefore made significantly more cost-efficient. The time that has been required so far is particularly worth mentioning here, as it has resulted in high personnel costs and skilled workers being tied up with repetitive tasks.

How is this trend reflected in long-term transformation scenarios?

The transformation of the energy system with a significant expansion of electricity demand as well as the development of low-cost locations for renewable energies both in Germany and abroad requires additional infrastructure in the transmission grid. As a result, national and international electricity transmission in the transmission grid will increase significantly. In the BMWK's long-term scenarios, a required expansion of up to 40,000 km of circuit length is calculated if decarbonization of the application sectors relies very heavily on electrification of the most important processes and applications. This would roughly double the circuit length in the transmission grid if the current grid structure data from 2020 (with a circuit length of 37,500 km) is used as a basis. Trading with neighboring countries also increases in these scenarios, so cross-border infrastructure will also need to be expanded. Overall, a significant expansion of planning processes is expected, which will include heat, hydrogen and gas infrastructure, in addition to electricity infrastructure (German Energy Agency — proposed system development plan).

Expansion of the transmission grid and cross-border interconnectors by 2050



GN-Electricity scenario, GN-PtG/PtL scenario, GN-H₂-G scenario

Figure 5:

Übertragungsnetz. Die durchgeführten Berechnungen ersetzen keine detaillierte Netzausbauplanung. **Zusätzlich zu den hier dargestellten Ausbau- und Verstärkungsmaßnahmen bei Stromleitungen erfolgt in den Szenarien zusätzlich ein Zubau / Einsatz von Phasenschiebertransformatoren und Netzboostern ***dargestellt sind Stromkreis-km, nicht Trassen-km

****dargestellt sind Stromkreis-km aus grenzüberschreitenden Kuppelleitungen, die mit 50% der gesamten Leitungslängen dem dt. Netz zugerechnet wurden

Source: Long-term scenarios from the German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action (BMWK) 2021

The transformation of the generation structure also leads to a change in the system operation of the grid, as frequency maintenance here can be ensured by rotating masses less and less frequently. New concepts such as grid-supporting transformers and modified Redispatch measures are becoming increasingly important in an energy system dominated by renewable energies [9].

Coordination processes between grid operators are becoming more frequent and can be significantly accelerated if the information to be exchanged is available in a uniform digital and standardized format. The number of Redispatch measures and the number of stakeholders and plants involved in these measures has previously increased significantly in order to resolve bottlenecks in the grid. Faster and more precise actions make power grid operations more cost-efficient compared to the current Redispatch 2.0 process, which still involves manual and, at some points, inefficient Redispatch processes. Both more precise and more efficient coordination between grid operators and communication between these grid operators, smaller plants and equipment will be necessary in future to ensure safe operation and control of grids.

"The multitude of new generators, consumers and storage facilities at the low-voltage level mean transformation of the distribution grids is essential."

The trend is toward integrating smaller and smaller systems down to household level (rooftop photovoltaic systems, home storage, charging points, etc.). These can be used for system services and to compensate or cushion feed-in and consumption peaks. To make use of this potential, which has so far only been exploited to a limited extent, efforts are currently being made to continue and optimize the Redispatch 2.0 process "downward" (to the lower grid levels) (resulting in Redispatch 3.0). Photovoltaic storage systems, electromobility (with bi-directional charging) and heat pumps are significant factors here, and while these assets offer excellent control opportunities, because of their small-scale nature, they require good coordination to be able to achieve global impact from a local position. A digital information basis for the low-voltage and medium-voltage grids will be fundamental in achieving this and implementing digital automation and co-ordination processes that build on this.

2.5 Providing flexibility

The transformation from a centralized energy supply based on fossil fuels and nuclear energy sources to a decentralized, renewable energy supply has far-reaching consequences for the energy system. Expanding renewable energies will significantly increase fluctuation in terms of energy supply, resulting in an increasing need for reserve capacity and flexibility, especially in the electric power system. Flexibilization of energy consumption is an important building block for the success of the energy transition. Flexible consumers and plants can help to shift energy demand to times when renewable energy supply is available and to enable direct and efficient use of carbon-neutral renewable energy. This can reduce the need for efficiency-related intermediate storage. In addition, with local balancing of energy consumption and renewable energy supply, pressure can be relieved from the upstream energy system and the integration capability of renewable energy plants can be increased through a targeted use of flexibility options.

Many plants and processes have the potential to separate energy consumption from energy supply in terms of time, and to enable energy demand to be adjusted to volatile energy supply from renewable energy sources. The time, performance and energy potentials of the different flexibility options when it comes to load shifting are manifold. Both large-scale plants and aggregated small-scale plants, especially from the area of sector coupling (P2X technologies), have particular relevance for balancing and making direct use of the volatile energy supply from renewable energy plants (especially wind turbines and photovoltaic systems) [10].

The use of the different flexibility options is possible for several use cases and a distinction can be made between market-driven and grid-driven use cases here. For example, the use of flexibility options to maximize local own consumption of renewable energy and other business models/use cases focused on user-centricity and active participation of users are part of market-driven use of flexibility options. Examples include micro grids, virtual power plants, building energy management, load management for industry, demand side management, controlled charging of electric vehicles and, in the future, energy communities (citizen energy communities or energy sharing) (see also the section on "User-centricity and active participation of users") [11].

"Energy systems integration and flexibilization of consumption are important building blocks for the success of the energy transition."

Furthermore, use cases for the utilization of flexibility options can result from grid operation (e.g., vehicle-to-grid concepts), which is responsible for and contributes to ensuring security of supply. For this purpose, flexibility options can be integrated into the grid operators' action cascade on congestion management for the initiation and implementation of grid security measures. These flexibility options can also contribute to securing grid operation and can be used in grid operations to improve grid utilization and minimize grid losses [12].

2.6 Transformation of the stakeholder landscape

The energy system has historically been characterized by a high degree of specialization and focus on individual stages of the value chain, which have been dominated by professional stakeholders. Above all, the extraction and production of primary fossil fuels was geographically focused and strongly characterized by internationality [13]. With decentralized, renewable generation plants, the conventional value chain and therefore the stakeholder landscape is changing considerably. Today, in principle, it is possible for anyone to operate their own generation plant. This begins in the smallest plant segment, with the mini photovoltaic systems known as "balcony units" that can provide up to 600 watts of inverter power, and extends right up to wind farms in the megawatt range in the hands of energy cooperatives comprising thousands of people [14, 15].

Due to the geographic distribution of the facilities, stakeholders from outside the field, such as municipal authorities, local residents, landowners and interest groups, must increasingly be involved in the planning, construction, operation and dismantling of the plants and the associated infrastructure. New approaches are needed to ensure participation in the necessary decision-making processes that is active, fair and as rapid as possible.

It will also not be possible to address grid and metering operations with the tools of the past if a large number of non-specialist operators of decentralized energy systems are to be integrated as prosumers. Here, with the smart metering system, for example, new issues such as data protection arise when generation and consumption data is used with a high degree of precision in active distribution grid operation [16, 17]. At the same time, the data from decentralized energy systems could be of potential interest to other stakeholders, such as the plant manufacturers, who would like to offer further use cases on this basis, including health checks or predictive maintenance. This is not dependent on the size of the plant and concerns both end users and professional stakeholders in the energy supply sector [18].

"The diversity of stakeholders is increasing significantly due to energy systems integration and greater networking."

All in all, these case studies show that conventional value chains are changing and that alternative value creation networks are increasingly emerging, which can be made up of local, regional and (inter)national stakeholders. As a result, new service-oriented business models and changed stakeholder landscapes are forming, which, with the high geographical spread of decentralized energy systems and the necessary infrastructure (expansions), include a large number of new stakeholders to ultimately successfully implement the (digitally driven) transformation of the energy supply.

2.7 User-centricity and active participation of users

For energy consumers, sector coupling is developing new opportunities and options to become actively involved in the energy system and thereby reduce their own carbon footprint. In order to decide on investments in electric vehicles, heat pumps and battery storage, as well as in energy-efficient appliances, users, households and businesses need individual information adapted to their situation. At the same time, feedback from users is crucial to the rapid and efficient diffusion of climate-friendly and energy-efficient technologies if these are to be adopted. Digital transformation can provide an important basis for this.

As already introduced with the example of electromobility, business models are increasingly developing around a rapidly growing segment of flexsumers and prosumers — these can be end users with flexible decentralized energy systems such as heat pumps on the consumption side, or end users who also have on-site generation. Photovoltaic systems in the household sector are the dominant example of this on-site generation, with excess energy fed into the grid once the home's own consumption has been covered [19, 20]. Highly user-centric approaches are used to address these market segments. Above all, maximizing financially attractive own consumption is the primary driver for investment in plant technology and its flexible regulation in the case of smaller generation plants. Other applications for small-scale flexibility may also be a possibility. More specifically, these are usually options that follow the usual distinctions of behind-the-meter (BTM) applications — such as own consumption optimization, section 14a of the German Energy Industry Act (EnWG), variable electricity prices or emergency power capability — and front-of-themeter (FTM) applications — such as arbitrage transactions, control reserve capacity provision, micro grids or energy sharing within districts/energy communities [21–24].

"Greater user-centricity due to decentralized, own generation and flexible end users."

Essentially, there are various technical (data) requirements for both BTM and FTM applications. These requirements are fast response capabilities, high-resolution measured values and fast control algorithms; for example, for own consumption optimization, peak load management or the provision of primary control power (frequency containment reserve — FCR). For the billing of variable tariffs or energy flows within energy communities, for example, the quarter-hourly grid of the balancing group billing is usually sufficient. In this context, the main interest is in correctly calibrated readings as opposed to the fastest possible transmission to the relevant market stakeholders. From the perspective of user-centric business models, the focus is primarily on BTM or FTM applications that deliver economic, ecological and possibly social added value. Overall, there are significant overlaps with the field of e-mobility, as shown by typical applications of own consumption optimization within buildings or districts, as well as in energy communities in energy sharing

systems [14]. This also applies to the use of variable electricity tariffs, the use of options under section 14a EnWG, and the provision of system services such as control reserve or non-frequency-related system services [11, 14, 18–20].

2.8 Energy system resilience

The number of generation plants, storage facilities and controllable energy and power consumers increases significantly in a sustainable energy system. At the same time, various communication systems are being used for monitoring and control that have not been used on a large scale in the energy system. Greater networking of plants and active integration of decentralized generation plants and controllable loads increases opportunities for targeted disruption of the energy system.

Energy supply security is a constant focus in Germany, the EU and in industrialized countries worldwide. In recent years, the effects of natural events on energy system resilience have been particularly observed here; for example, in the form of extreme cold, which in combination with disturbances led to overloading of the power grid (e.g., the 2021 Texas power grid crisis), or in the form of extreme heat, fires and drought, which lead to disturbances and overloads in the grid [25]. In addition to force majeure, the resilience of the energy supply is also threatened by technical disruptions to computer and control systems (e.g., the 2003 Northeast US blackout) or market manipulation (California electricity crisis) and is regulated and monitored accordingly.

However, the power grid has also become the target of targeted cyberattacks, once again highlighting the challenges of ensuring security of supply in the form of high availability and resilience. Malware such as Stuxnet and Industroyer are examples of software specifically designed to attack and possibly even damage or destroy industrial control systems (ICS). This is where the biggest developments and also gaps, in terms of protecting the power grid, can be seen. Special attention should therefore be paid here to the implementation of concepts for establishing cyber resilience, which must complement conventional IT security systems so that the focus can be on high availability and recoverability despite cyberattacks.

"Networking and active integration of a large number of decentralized plants increases the risk of targeted disruptions."

3 **Digital transformation trends**

Digital transformation has fostered huge momentum in recent years and is relentlessly permeating all areas of life. Processes are becoming more efficient and traceable, customer needs are being better recorded and analyzed with each application, new products are being placed on the market more quickly and in a more targeted manner, and there is completely new value creation. Other industries are showcasing the opportunities the consistent digital transformation opens up and a number of trends can be observed that may have a particular influence on further developments of the energy transition. The following pages will describe the most significant trends.

Green IT

The electricity requirements for the information and communication technology sector are simply extraordinary: In 2017, the sector's consumption in Germany was already 58 terawatt-hours, which corresponded to 2 percent of total electricity demand [26]. This huge demand has created an awareness that it is also necessary to think about IT and software in a more sustainable way. Green IT describes the optimization of IT in terms of its environmental friendliness. All aspects of IT are considered, such as the location and layout of data centers, the virtualization of server hardware and its power management, and the use of office monitors and printers that can be recycled. Green IT also plays a role in the design of software, where the positive impact on the environment is weighed against the negative. Therefore, an algorithm that optimizes the load flows in a balancing group must save at least as much energy as would be consumed during the time it takes to run the algorithm [27].

3.1 Data spaces

A key prerequisite for many new technologies, such as machine learning, is the availability of large datasets. Cloud storage is a typical storage location for large shared datasets and cloud infrastructure had revenues of \$142 billion in 2020, with growth of 33 percent. The majority of this market is split between just a few companies: AWS has a market share of 31 percent, Azure has 20 percent and Google has 7 percent [28].

In most cases, data is stored centrally, which results in risks when it comes to data ownership, as the data owners have no control over the whereabouts of their data. The EU is taking ambitious steps to solve this problem with its own data spaces, which aim to give data owners full ownership of their data.

Two reference architectures here are international data spaces (IDS) and the closely related Gaia-X project. Both systems make it possible to access data that is hosted at the data owner's premises, i.e., in a decentralized manner. Access control goes down to a granular level for each data user and access can be changed or revoked by the data owner at any time. The data is described in a standardized way to make it machine-readable and searchable [29].

The International Data Spaces Association provides open source code that simplifies IDS use and access, and makes it available to the public [30]. Within the framework of a GXFS-DE initiative funded by the German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action (BMWK), GAIA-X federation services are implemented as open source applications and made available to the public [31].

3.2 Internet of Things

Industry 4.0 has driven the digital transformation of production, logistics and products, and the Internet of Things (IoT) is expanding this digital transformation to other areas. IoT is used to generally describe the networking of smart machines online. Household appliances, such as refrigerators and robot vacuum cleaners, are equipped with smart functions, and industrial fittings, such as electronic meters, can be equipped with these functions, too. A large number of distributed, communicating sensors (or IoT devices or edge devices) can create positive added value as swarm intelligence. In the area of location services, for example, anonymized movement patterns of individual devices are used to detect congestion or track objects. The German Corona-Warn-App developed in 2020 is also based on IoT principles, in that sensor data is recorded in a decentralized manner and shared with other app users in an anonymized form when required (e.g., as a warning notification) [32]. With ever increasing digital transformation, people are also talking about the internet of everything (IoE) and the sensor data made available by these devices can be used profitably for new technologies, e.g., artificial intelligence [33, 468ff].

3.3 Cloud computing

Cloud computing describes the provision of computing resources from a pool of shared resources. These are offered "as a service", which means they can be arranged and used flexibly as needed. There are different levels of abstraction and virtualization of computing resources [34, S. 27].

With "infrastructure as a service" (laaS), the user gets access to the resources of a virtual resource center, such as a server, router or firewall. laaS users benefit from the fact that they don't have to operate their own data center, but can rent computer resources at any time. This also eliminates the need for hardware maintenance [34, S. 80].

With "platform as a service" (PaaS) — in addition to the virtualization of computing resources — development and runtime environments are also virtualized, in Java or Docker containers, for example. The platforms made available as a service therefore facilitate the development of new applications [33, S. 457, 34, S. 81].

"Software as a service" (SaaS) refers to the operation of standardized applications for end users that can be used without installing additional software. SaaS licensing is based on time or usage limits [33, S. 457, 34, S. 81].

3.4 Edge computing

Edge computing refers to individual nodes that are decentralized, unlike the centralized cloud, and describes the shift of data processing from the cloud to end devices in the field. For example, only the results of preprocessed data are sent to the cloud, that is only the objects detected by video analytics systems are transferred to the cloud instead of the complete image data. This example shows the huge savings potential that edge computing promises in terms of the data to be transferred. This results in advantages such as significantly faster data transmission and reduction of the network bandwidth used [34, S. 53].

3.5 Distributed ledger technologies

Over the past decade, the general public has become familiar with distributed ledger technologies (DLT) due to their use in cryptocurrencies. In this context, DLTs offer decentralized data storage for, in principle, any data. Within this decentralized data storage, integrity is ensured by consensus mechanisms, which ensure that entries are verified and generally become irreversibly part of the ledger. The most well-known cryptocurrency, Bitcoin, uses a blockchain as its public ledger and, within the blockchain, transactions are archived in pseudonymized form. Transactions are then authorized using cryptographic keys [35].

The propagated advantage of decentralized currency systems like Bitcoin is the independence from a centralized banking system and the irreversibility of transactions. DLT is also used in the context of the digital transformation of production (Industry 4.0 and IoT) to ensure the security and traceability of production chains.

Energy-intensive consensus mechanisms (proof of work) and scaling challenges are critical to DLTs. For Bitcoin alone, global energy demand is observed to be on the scale of large German federal states (anti-pattern to green IT) [36]. The switch to other consensus mechanisms (e.g., proof of stake) in cryptocurrencies is being pursued in several places but has not yet been realized.

3.6 Quantum computing

Quantum computers are anticipated to be the next stage in the development of computing machines after digital computers. Similarly to the binary bit for conventional computers, the quantum bit (qubit) forms the elementary information carrier for quantum computers. While a bit is only in one state, either 0 or 1, a qubit can be in superposition of both states. As a result, the number of states and therefore the information contained increases exponentially for several qubits, whereas it only grows linearly for conventional computers. This being the case, the information stored in 500 qubits would require more conventional bits than the estimated number of atoms in the entire universe [37].

Probably the best-known application of quantum computing is prime number factorization, which allows asymmetric encryption schemes to be solved. Using these, the enormous potential of quantum computing was theoretically demonstrated as early as 1994 through the development of Shor's algorithm [2]. However, no physical quantum computers were in existence to demonstrate practical implementation. Today, their development is progressing rapidly, so it has been possible to increase the quantum volume (the metric for power and performance) from 16 in 2019 to 2,048 in 2021 [38, 39]. However, practical applications still pose a challenge for these systems that are part of the noisy intermediate-scale quantum (NISQ) era. To overcome the hardware limitations, modern hybrid algorithms such as QAOA or VQE are used [40], which utilize both quantum and conventional hardware. These allow the spectrum of solvable problems, such as optimization problems, to be extended and thus open up a wide range of application areas in industry. For example, promising results have already been achieved in [41] for smart charging methods for electric vehicles, and great potential is also seen for the automotive industry and for forecasts and analyses in the fight against climate change [42, 43].

3.7 Artificial intelligence

The field of artificial intelligence (AI) deals with the theory and development of computer systems that are capable of performing tasks that normally require human intelligence, such as visual perception, speech recognition, decision-making and translation [44]. A distinction is made between

weak AI, which is limited to clearly defined use cases and therefore cannot be transferred to other problems and areas, or only be transferred with difficulty, and strong AI, which recognizes connections across different areas and deals with problems independently. While the development of strong AI is an active research field, weak AI is actually used in practical applications. The approaches to AI development can be categorized into traditional approaches (expert systems and logical systems) and machine learning. In particular, significant progress has been made in the area of machine learning in recent years due to increased availability of data, algorithmic advancements and increased computing power. AI is used for various problems, such as image processing (e.g., image recognition, self-driving vehicles, security measures), audio processing and computational linguistics (e.g., speech recognition, information extraction, translation), plant control and robotics (e.g., self-driving vehicles, grasping objects), prediction, discovery, planning (e.g., forming groups of data, object classification, predicting values, detecting anomalies for monitoring the operation of machines or cybersecurity), or creating new content [45, 46].

Artificial intelligence helps to extract knowledge from data to use it for predictions, optimizations or action strategies in the local or global energy system. Machine learning methods are frequently used here, and these are divided into three main strands. While unsupervised learning involves learning to detect patterns and relationships in data, supervised learning generates a classification or regression model to make decisions and predictions for a specific task. In the final strand, reinforcement learning, an agent interacts with its environment via a feedback loop to self-learn how to adapt its behavior to new situations. In addition, various AI approaches such as federated learning for learning on distributed systems, transfer learning or domain adaptation for the transferability of models, or multi-agent reinforcement learning for linking models are being discussed in scientific circles and are increasingly being applied [47].

3.8 Digital twins

A digital twin refers to when the behavior of a real, physical object or system is digitally replicated. This kind of model is used for simulation, prediction, optimization and verification of the real object and can be used throughout its life cycle. For example, in the development phase, at which point the real object often does not yet exist, a digital twin can be used to make statements about the later behavior of the product and thus assess and improve the quality of the product.

Digital twins are also particularly suitable for testing outlying cases or extreme situations that cannot be implemented in reality. Digital twins of power grids can be used to predict how the grid would behave in the event of a failure of large generation plants [34, S. 37].

3.9 Mobile networks

Among communication technologies, mobile networks enjoy a prominent role due to high network coverage and broad application. Currently, the 5G roll-out is progressing well, with 53 percent of areas in Germany covered since the end of October 2021 [48]. In many respects, 5G is superior to its predecessor 4G; for example, it has lower latencies and higher data rates, and enables a higher number of connected devices. The disadvantages are the shorter range, the associated need for more transmission towers and the need for internet backbone expansion [34, S. 12-19]. Research is already underway on 6G, the successor to 4G and 5G, with the aim of creating a robust network of land-, sea- and air-based communication that boasts 10 times more devices and 40 times higher data transfer rates than 5G. A major challenge is still the high energy demands from 6G, which also need to be reduced in the context of green IT [49, S. 22]. Outside of metropolitan areas and cellular network coverage, low Earth orbit (LEO) networks are alternatives that have been pursued by commercial companies for several years [50]. LEO networks offer satellite-based internet available even in the remotest corners of the world. Compared to the LEO networks of the 1990s, the technology used has improved significantly and manufacturing costs have fallen. Mega-constellations with up to thousands of satellites are used to span a network of satellites, providing seamless network coverage. This type of network offers low latency and global broadband internet coverage [51].

For battery-powered IoT applications, the energy requirements of the aforementioned technologies are often too high. Low-power wide-area networks such as long-range wide-area networks (LoRaWAN) are intended specifically for such applications. Other characteristics besides the aforementioned low energy requirements are a long range, a low price and the scalability of the systems. The data transfer rate for such systems is low, usually in the range of several tens to several hundreds of kilobits per second [52].

To operate critical infrastructure, the 450 megahertz network [53] establishes a protected, nonpublic infrastructure for presumably fail-safe power supply communication. Messages can be handled with different priorities, but the bandwidth is not sufficient for wide-area real-time applications down to the prosumer level.

3.10 Data protection and privacy

With increasing digital transformation, regulations and ordinances for the implementation of data protection have become indispensable. The examples provided below are the most important laws and regulations.

The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) primarily regulates the securing of data traffic in Europe and the protection of personal data. "Personal" data is very broadly defined [54].

The Digital Markets Act (DMA) is intended to create more competition and prevent particularly large digital companies, known as gatekeepers, from exploiting their dominant position in the market. For example, widely used messaging services such as WhatsApp would have to provide interoperable interfaces for less widely used messaging services. Any violations of this could result in drastic penalties of 10 percent of sales [55].

The Digital Services Act (DSA) also focuses on particularly large digital companies, including search engines, online marketplaces and social networks. For example, these must combat illegal content or deal with user complaints more effectively. Although small companies are exempt from these regulations, the larger the company the more regulations it has to implement [56].

The foundation for a European data exchange model is to be laid with the aid of the Data Governance Act (DGA). In addition, the DGA aims to support the development of common European data spaces. These areas are to include energy, mobility and public administration data. In general, the exchange of data between different sectors and EU member states is to be facilitated [57].

In a related way, the Data Act (DA) aims to regulate the sharing and use of industry data collected from connected devices. Data markets are to be created in order to make user data accessible to companies and industry stakeholders, as well as the data of external companies accessible to public authorities [58].

The Artificial Intelligence Act (AIA) is intended to establish a regulatory and legal framework for artificial intelligence. Al applications are divided into four risk groups. Applications with low risk can be used without restrictions, while applications with risk are prohibited [59]. Applications that

affect critical infrastructure, such as energy grids, are rated as a high-risk group and must comply with tight controls during development and operation [60].

The European dimension — regulation surrounding the digital transformation

This section presents the main European policies, legal acts and strategies related to the digital transformation. A brief description of these policies is provided below and mainly covers core aspects of ongoing data and digital transformation policies and how they are linked to the energy sector. Legislative documents and proposals are referenced to provide context.

Digital Markets Act (DMA)

Online platforms often act as an interface between businesses and end users. The DMA regulates competition between relevant platform services and also commits to fair competition for gatekeepers and transparency in horizontal and vertical markets. These core platform services include intermediary services (e.g., marketplaces and app stores) [61]. A variety of digital services and platforms are also emerging in the energy sector, which will also be regulated by the DMA in order to maintain competitiveness for new market participants.

Digital Services Act (DSA)

The DSA protects and regulates the basic rights of consumers in an online marketplace. It also protects the digital space from unethical content, illegal goods and services, and targeted advertising. To achieve this, certain obligations must be met by intermediary stakeholders, including, for example, transparency reporting, cooperation with national authorities as instructed and requirements for terms of use that must take fundamental rights into account [61]. In the context of the energy sector, the DSA is able to regulate end-to-end digital services offered via the internet or online platforms. It also supports corporations and small and medium-sized enterprises in setting up and scaling EU-wide digital energy platforms.

Data Governance Act (DGA)

The DGA is an important strategic pillar of the EU Data Strategy and is intended to increase confidence in the shared use and availability of data. It also creates the foundation for data exchange services and data altruism. The DGA promises to create governance and a set of rules to overcome the challenges of technical barriers and data re-use. It is also oriented toward the creation and development of common European data spaces in key strategic areas involving both private and public stakeholders in areas such as health, environment, energy, agriculture, mobility, finance, manufacturing, public administration and qualifications [62].

Data Act (DA)

The Data Act complements the Data Governance Act proposed in November 2020. It promotes a fair and innovative data-driven economy and provides a legal framework for companies and businesses to share data. In addition, the law stimulates a competitive data market and innovative services and seeks a free data market for non-personal data. It also facilitates data sharing in business relationships between companies and public authorities, which is often inefficient through existing channels. Data has significant value in the energy sector and the Data Act would establish ground rules for data sharing and portability in the energy sector. Third-party providers could privilege access to data from various sources to provide digital services and solutions to end users [63].

Artificial Intelligence Act (AIA)

This legal act regulates the framework and development of artificial intelligence in EU member states. The fundamental objective of this act is to ensure the safe, trustworthy and lawful implementation of AI-related services in the EU. It also facilitates the single market for AI services, investment and innovation in AI systems [64].

Al models and systems play an important role in the energy supply chain; in fact, a number of Al-enabled services and products are already well-placed at various stages of the energy supply chain (e.g., end use, generation and transmission). This specific piece of legislation provides guidance to energy companies, utility companies and small and medium-sized enterprises on how to introduce and integrate a legally valid Al system into their business process.

Open data and the re-use of public sector information (recast)

This promotes the exchange of public data (e.g., from energy suppliers) via a digital data platform that can be used free of charge. It also enables the re-use of data to develop new energy services, products and applications, and encourages energy companies, utility companies and power producers to establish an open data platform [65].

EU Cybersecurity Strategy

This strategy ensures the resilience of critical infrastructures that provide services essential for the smooth functioning of the internal market and for the lives and livelihoods of European citizens. In the context of the energy sector, the Cybersecurity Strategy implements a common network and information security framework (NIS 2.0) for power producers, market operators, aggregators, demand response and energy services. This also includes heating and cooling networks [66].

Regulation on establishing the European High Performance Computing Joint Undertaking (Draft proposal)

European regulation of high-performance computing (HPC) aims to modernize existing infrastructure. HPC systems enable data-driven innovation (e.g., big data analytics, hyperautomation) [67]. In the energy sector, HPC systems would help interconnect various infrastructures and plants by providing advanced digital connectivity. They would also allow energy companies to develop data-intensive AI and machine learning models.

Smart Readiness Indicator (SRI) for Buildings

This is a methodology for assessing the digital readiness of buildings in the EU that provides a common definition and certification system for the smart readiness of buildings [68]. The SRI promotes the digital transformation of energy services in buildings and is closely related to digital aggregation and flexibility services in the energy value chain.

Common European Data Spaces (working proposal)

This proposal accelerates the establishment of common (open) data spaces to ensure data portability and interoperability and covers a number of strategic sectors and areas. These kinds of data spaces will provide easy and secure access to data in order to test innovations and new business models. In the context of the energy sector, a common European energy data space is proposed to strengthen digital data exchange between companies and utilities and to develop new use cases for the benefit of the green transition and digital transformation [69].

Renewable Energy Directive (RED III)

The newly introduced RED III Directive is an important policy initiative to enable the transition to a 100 percent renewable energy grid. It promotes the system integration of renewable energies in a digital way and makes the issuance of guarantees of origin mandatory, as well as ensuring transparency among stakeholders. In addition, RED III emphasizes the electronic exchange of data, such as electric vehicle charging points, heating and cooling system locations, building energy management and aggregator data [70].

European Interoperability Framework (EIF)

The EIF guidelines are a set of recommendations for achieving interoperability at the different levels of business processes. The EIF introduces different levels of interoperability (e.g., organizational, technical, informational) to streamline the free flow of data in end-to-end digital services. It supports rapid customization of open source software technologies, databases and products to avoid a lock-in effect [71]. The energy sector is of great importance when it comes to interoperability of technologies and information. In this sense, the EIF would help implement interoperability at every stage of the energy services value chain.

4 State of the digital transformation of the energy system

Based on the initially separate considerations of the developments and trends in the energy transition and general digital transformation, various workshops were held from which it was then possible to identify five fields of action that represent particularly promising opportunities for greater digital transformation, and which require special attention. These are data economy, sector coupling, networked plant operation, grid operation and planning, and cybersecurity. The basic assessment benchmark is the achievement of the decarbonization target by 2045, i.e., minimum requirements for digital transformation, without which the achievement of the energy transition target seems unlikely.

Two challenges will be discussed here by way of introduction that do not fit into these categories but have a major impact on past and future developments. One is the digital transformation of processes involving public authorities and the other is qualification and the labor market.

The digital transformation of businesses, public authorities and processes

Companies are gearing up for the digital transformation. According to [72], more than half of energy suppliers and grid operators had a digital transformation strategy in 2021. The COVID-19 pandemic also acted as a catalyst for digital transformation in the energy sector, as companies had to realign their processes and digital transformation initiatives were implemented in a very short amount of time. This raised awareness of the need for digital transformation and boosted the visibility of its huge potential [73]. Today, companies expect a change in value creation as well as increasing revenue expectations for digital products, e.g., for offers of decentralized generation plants (e.g., automation or alternative solutions for administrative processes for market participation of plants), automated electricity trading, switching between marketing options, smart city IT, e-mobility and energy management solutions for municipalities and industrial companies. In addition, the field of smart city IT and e-mobility offers numerous options for digital products and services (e.g., infrastructure for integrated communication platforms and decentralized generation plants, one-ticket approaches for mobility options, roaming platforms, sharing services, wallboxes, mobile apps and charging station bookings), which together are already an integral part of many companies' practical operations. A large proportion of companies in the energy sector have also already been able to reduce costs through digital transformation; for example, with the help of digital optimization [72]. Energy supply companies also passively achieve major efficiency gains in core processes within the energy sector, such as through meter data processing, billing and selfservice portals [73]. There is also potential for improvement in the application of AI for digital assistance systems, data-driven churn forecasting and prevention, as well as basic data maintenance, digital sales support or the digital transformation of regulated processes [72].

The digital transformation of processes has become increasingly relevant in this context. Automated processes improve the efficiency and therefore the competitiveness of companies. In this regard, large companies often have a head start on small and medium-sized enterprises when it comes to the digital transformation of processes. However, small and medium-sized enterprises are often more agile and have leaner and less complex processes. In the area of grid infrastructure, this is relevant for grid automation, analytically supported construction planning, automation in workforce management, credit note processes for subcontractors, the use of drones for recordings and analyses, as well as self-service business intelligence for regular independent preparation of business reports and analyses, for example [72].

The opportunities offered by digital transformation for public authorities and administration are not being exploited and the COVID-19 pandemic has exposed the need to catch up. Without

modernization and digital transformation, which offer enormous potential for faster and simpler processes, public authorities lack the capacity they need to accelerate the energy transition and implement the necessary processes (e.g., for the digital transformation of planning and approval processes for grid expansion) [74]. All in all, the digital transformation of energy sector companies, public authorities, processes, stages of the value chain and stakeholders needs to be consistent and not just selective.

Digital transformation expertise

Digital and data expertise is becoming increasingly important in all sectors. According to [74], there is room for improvement when it comes to digital expertise in the energy sector. The existing staff of (especially small and municipal) public authorities and energy supply companies cannot be further developed and expanded at a sufficient rate to ensure that there is fully adequate knowledge of how to progress with digital transformation. For this reason, expertise must be combined, e.g., by working with central contacts who have at least the sufficient basic knowledge (digital transformation in general, cybersecurity, possibilities provided by modern methods such as Al).

Only half of companies offered their employees digital support for onboarding, training, self-service or further development through e-learning in 2021. In addition, there was a lack of expertise and employee qualifications in the area of data analysis and AI, so much so that companies are not sufficiently tapping into the potential offered by predictive or prescriptive analyses, analytical optimization, optimization based on historical data or predictive maintenance. Furthermore, the roles within companies are changing significantly as the digital transformation progresses, which leads to new expertise requirements for both employees and management [73]. It should also be noted that communication and cooperation with stakeholders who have in-depth expertise in digital transformation is a relevant point here (e.g., research institutions, technology and digital transformation start-ups, and manufacturers of controllable energy systems such as e-vehicles, heat pumps and smart home applications). These developments are already underway but are not yet sufficiently advanced in all areas. Digital expertise also needs to be promoted to a greater degree in vocational and further training for the energy sector, as a shortage of skilled workers in digitalized systems (for digital grids, cross-sector digitalized planning and operation, etc.) is becoming apparent.

4.1 Data economy

Given that data volumes are increasing rapidly, the economic potential of data is also becoming more and more relevant. Progressive technical options for measuring, storing and analyzing data are fueling new digital business models. Expertise in the use of data and algorithms is becoming a factor in the competitiveness of companies, thus increasing its overall economic importance. The availability of data is therefore an essential prerequisite for the digital transformation of energy supply. The exchange of data between market stakeholders is often inadequate and mostly limited to regulatory requirements, meaning the potential for innovative solutions is not exploited. To present the current state of the data economy in the energy sector, the following sections take a closer look at the regulatory and legal environment, the current exchange of data in the German energy sector, and data spaces as a connection point for new value creation networks. In addition to the data exchange considered here, there are a large number of bilateral data exchanges within the energy sector; however, these are not considered in detail here.

The regulatory and legal environment for market communication

Data exchange in the energy sector has been significantly influenced by regulations and specifications up until this point. In the context of market communication between market participants, the following regulatory process documents are applied in Germany: Switching Processes in Metering (WiM); Business Processes for Supplying Customers with Electricity (GPKE); Market Processes for Generating Market locations — Electricity (MPES) and Market Rules for the Performance of Balancing Group Accounting in Electricity (MaBiS). In this context, data and information is exchanged via standardized EDIFACT messages by means of suitable backend systems (e.g., the market communication tools and underlying upstream processes as well as associated tools for balancing and supplier switching).

As first-generation smart metering systems cannot yet technically map multi-point processing and distribution of metered values from the smart meter gateway (SMGW), suitable backend systems are needed here for receiving, plausibility checking, enriching and sending metering data. The legal situation regarding the collection of this data is regulated in the German Metering Point Operation Act (MsbG). In this context, the German Federal Network Agency (BNetzA) and the German Federal Office for Information Security (BSI) are the authoritative regulatory authorities when it comes to the implementation of the statutory requirements. In this regard, the BSI has developed and published minimum requirements for protection profiles and technical guidelines, which describe and define the basic requirement details [75, 76].

Current data exchange in the German energy sector

In the context of the digital transformation and due to the regulatory transparency requirements of the energy transition, digitalized data and information is exchanged at different levels. There are two primary areas of interest here. The first is at the technical level, so covers device data communication with and via the SMGW, for example. The second focuses on the regulatory level and involves data communication between individual market stakeholders in the liberalized energy market.

Seim et al. [77] used a survey to identify limiting factors in the platforms currently available. For example, information is usually not available in the required resolution or is very heterogeneous and not machine-readable.

Data is mostly recorded, processed and made available in the familiar sectors of electricity, gas or heating. Consequently, in combination with a very clearly defined project focus, data silos are created that do not allow for easy exchange of data and lead to the combining and exponentiation of values. A relevant example is the Connect+ platform, which German grid operators use to work together to exchange the necessary information for congestion management (Redispatch 2.0) [78]. As the German Energy Agency's study on the subject also states, it remains to be seen whether open and innovative data exchange is actually possible with Connect+ or whether it will remain a silo solution [79].

"The importance of data and its economic potential is increasing, but many possibilities and opportunities currently remain untapped."

Data spaces as a connection point for new value creation networks

Implementing a thriving digital data economy requires a simple and secure way to share data. One basis for this is provided by basic technological building blocks for establishing a data space. Here, concepts and initial building blocks have been developed by various organizations, which serve as the basis for all implementations to date.

The International Data Spaces initiative was initiated by the Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft at the end of 2014 with the aim of enabling secure and sovereign data exchange. Through organizational and technical measures, the IDS reference architecture enables data providers to share their data along the entire value chain while maintaining data ownership. For the dissemination and further development of IDS, the International Data Spaces Association (IDSA) was founded. More than 110 organizations already belong to this association in order to use the developed technologies for their use cases and business processes. The IDS architecture [80] as an industry-neutral IT solution is currently being verticalized into specific solutions in various industries. This is driven by the respective stakeholders and use cases.

Alternatively, the Gaia-X reference architecture provides another way to share data stored in a decentralized way within a comprehensive ecosystem [81]. Together with Fiware and the Big Data Value Association, IDSA and Gaia-X are currently developing the most important revival in the field of digital ecosystems. All four of these organizations have joined together to form the Data Space Business Alliance (DSBA) to prevent the creation of data silos and enable sharing between their respective technologies [82].

Based on the recommendations of the DSBA, the European project Omega-X is developing an energy data space for the exchange of data based on data spaces. The focus is on data processing according to European values with the help of decentralized data storage and data ownership. At the same time, the aim is to demonstrate that the value-added potential of the data can still be exploited [83].

Another project is the EU Horizon 2020 project PLATOON [84]. This was launched last year, uses IDS technology and demonstrates efficient data exchange for productive use cases with the help of seven pilot applications. Fraunhofer also conducted an initial feasibility study of the data space concept with the EnDaSpace project. Here, the functionality of the technology was evaluated with the aid of a prototype and practically demonstrated based on a hydrogen use case [85].

The three projects mentioned are a list of examples that can be continued by other projects. This is indicative of the high level of interest in data spaces that can currently be observed in the energy sector and in other industries, such as manufacturing. Data spaces offer great potential to meet the digital challenges of the coming years and to process data in line with European values without sacrificing value creation.
4.2 Sector coupling

Sector coupling involves the conversion and storage of energy and materials between the electricity, heating, gas, transportation and industrial sectors. The use of technologies for sector coupling enables synergies to be exploited between renewable energy sources and energy consumption, allowing the energy system to become more flexible. From a digital transformation perspective, the most relevant integration points between the sectors are currently power-to-mobility, power-to-heat and power-to-gas. Some sector coupling technologies are already technologically mature and widespread, such as heat pumps for power-to-heat and basic electric vehicle charging for power-to-mobility. When it comes to these technologies, current research is primarily related to system integration, for which digitalized control plays an important role. Other technologies, such as bidirectional charging (especially vehicle-to-grid) for power-to-mobility, already have a high level of technical maturity, but can hardly be called widespread because of various regulatory hurdles and ambiguities. These need to be removed in some cases and this is already happening to a certain extent; for example, through the elimination of the German Federal Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) surcharge, which previously represented a double burden for decentralized storage. On the other hand, digital transformation also makes it possible to comply with some regulatory requirements in the first place, enabling the integration of technologies into the energy system. Technologies such as electrolysis and hydrogen reconversion for power-to-gas are available in principle but require further development in terms of the technology. Nevertheless, work already needs to be done regarding how such technologies can be integrated digitally into the energy system [86]. The state of the digital transformation at the most relevant integration points is discussed in more detail in the following sections.

"The digital transformation of the energy systems integration needs to be advanced significantly and hurdles need to be overcome to fully realize the potential of these key technologies for the energy transition."

Electromobility

According to the BMWK, there were more than 70 electric vehicle models from German manufacturers on the market in 2021, and around 46,200 publicly accessible charging points were available for charging with electricity. In 2020, 389,000 new electric vehicles were registered, compared to 681,000 new registrations in 2021 [87]. This ramp-up in electromobility is incredibly dynamic in terms of new registrations and technological developments. When it comes to digital transformation, the areas of particular interest at this point in time are communication with the charging infrastructure, control and communication functionality, customer orientation and grid integration for electromobility. Digital solutions tailored to customers' requirements in terms of charging time, convenience, safety, range, price and additional offers are relevant for the future of electromobility but have not yet been sufficiently implemented. These are essential when it comes to achieving acceptance, dissemination and efficient and targeted grid integration of electromobility [88].

However, to successfully be able to integrate them into the energy system, the greatest possible interoperability and extensive communication with charging management systems is required. Interoperability is limited in part by the fact that some manufacturers operate proprietary systems. For example, only a few electric vehicle models and charging stations support standardized complex communication according to ISO 15118, which is intended to enable user-friendly and secure interfaces between electric vehicles and charging stations. If the vehicles use other communication options, communication with management systems is limited. There is currently a lack

of standardization regarding an interface for the connection of charging stations as a connected consumer and generation facility to a local smart power and energy management system. (3) Timely completion of technical work on ISO 15118-20 and smart meter gateway certification is therefore to be sought and a focus placed on controllability functionality including clarification of technology availability. Its implementation has not yet been achieved but is underway. However, timely clarification that is open to new technologies regarding how to ensure technical controllability or flexibilization has yet to be provided [89].

Heat supply

The digital transformation of the energy sector and heat supply can improve the overall efficiency of the system and facilitate the integration of renewable sources. Looking at different energy sectors, digital transformation processes are currently more advanced with respect to electricity than for heat supply.

In heat supply for end users, new-generation appliances, e.g., heat generators (such as boilers or heat pumps) are delivered with a corresponding communication unit to establish a connection to the cloud data system of the respective manufacturer. These interfaces are used to analyze the plant, for example, but as a rule, there is no overarching data evaluation. For larger units in properties, for example, a comprehensive data connection is usually implemented. Heat meters with the appropriate smart capabilities are available on the market and are used for billing purposes and to optimize operation. Even here, though, comprehensive use of the data is not usually carried out.

The introduction and use of modern communication structures in energy technology is an important and urgent task in the district heating sector. Generally, district heating systems have been rather underexposed to digital transformation. The expansion or conversion of existing structures is necessary, as supply systems for heat and electricity will be much more decentralized in the future. The main impetus for this trend is the ongoing transformation of the energy system, in which smaller, distributed generation systems and the use of flexibility on the part of consumers will play a central role. However, systemic regulation and control of energy supply structures requires appropriate communication and signal processing. In the process of decarbonizing district heating systems, the structures, which have been mostly centralized to date, are being transformed into decentralized systems, with the need for digital networking of the plants. District heating systems are expanded to include large heat pumps, solar thermal generators and smaller combined heat and power (CHP) plants.

Furthermore, low system temperatures as well as diversified and generation units integrated into energy systems (e.g., CHP, power2heat, heat pumps) are targeted. In this context, digital transformation in combination with suitable sensor technology leads to better knowledge of heat demand, status recognition in the heating network, and smart and predictive heat storage and generator management. This is necessary to further develop the existing district heating systems and to enable their future-proof operation as well as new business models.

Digital, user-centric business models

In view of decentralized and volatile generation, business models that aim to make electricity consumption more flexible are particularly relevant for the energy transition. This makes the areas of sector coupling (incl. electromobility), flexible electricity tariffs, smart energy management and energy communities particularly interesting. For large-scale consumers, the implementation of corresponding models is easier and also already widespread — yet for household customers in particular, this has been difficult so far. Here, digital transformation offers opportunities for digital, user-centric business models that make households' purchases and feed-ins more flexible. In addition to prosumers, who already use flexibility to adapt their consumption to their generation plants, incentives for flexibility can also be created for pure consumers — for example, through flexible prices or involvement in load management.

As previous use cases regarding the flexibilization of integrated, decentralized energy systems can usually be combined, participants from the energy sector are increasingly offering so-called combination products. Usually, these start with the main use case of own consumption from users' own photovoltaic systems, which is then additionally extended by FCR provision with a battery storage system (BSS), or orientation to the variable electricity prices for cost-reduced coverage of the remaining residual electricity quantities. Furthermore, there are increasing tendencies to combine the residual power supply of flexsumers or the management of excess renewable energy generation of prosumers directly with the provision of one or more decentralized energy system products. Examples of this are "community" products as an on-balance-sheet combination of several prosumers or flexsumers or even "electricity flat rates" for fixed electricity quotas in combination with (flexible) decentralized energy systems.

From a digital transformation perspective, several systems are usually used at this point. On site, a home energy management system (HEMS) is typically used in the residential sector to locally read or control the integrated decentralized energy systems, such as heat pumps or energy storage systems (ESS) as well as (sub)meters. In order to additionally offer FCR or market-side integration in intraday trading, for example, aggregation takes place at a higher level in the form of virtual power plants. For this purpose, cloud-based control systems can be used, which in turn can be IT-linked to downstream trading and/or energy data management systems [21, 24, 90].

At the same time, both on the basis of the measurement data from the (flexible) decentralized energy systems and the pure consumption points, customers can be offered greater transparency about their individual energy flows. For example, this enables members of energy communities to be informed in a targeted manner the extent to which surpluses are currently available or expected in the community in order to increase or incentivize own consumption. In line with this, information about the residual power supply from the superordinate grid can be provided (such as origin or energy quantities). Insofar as the associated CO₂ emissions are tracked at the same time, it is possible — in the same process — to offset the emissions via another add-on product in order to address the increasing demand trend of climate-neutral living or a low-carbon lifestyle that can be implemented in the short term.

For these uses, backend systems are generally used that offer key functionalities such as measurement time series evaluation. For interaction with users, apps on customers' personal devices or a web interface are typical ways to provide information or to handle additional services [21].

In the potentially relevant area of energy communities, it is essential to note that an implementation of renewable energy communities for the more widespread, joint use of (renewable) electricity as well as renewable heat, if applicable, has already been on the cards since the end of June 2021. This is referred to as energy sharing. In detail, however, the corresponding implementation in the German regulatory system of the underlying EU framework directive — Renewable Energy Directive II — is not yet available. Accordingly, it is very complicated, at the district level, for example, to develop economically viable community consumption models for the residents of a district if, for instance, not all energy flows can be realized downstream of a grid connection point [21].

In all the applications mentioned, two points take center stage: Firstly, the majority of customers expect a high level of data protection when using their data for participation, and secondly, in the

case flexibilization of decentralized energy systems, it must be ensured that the convenience level is maintained, otherwise the customers involved are likely to reject it [4, 16, 17].

User-centric energy offerings have so far often been driven by new entrants to the energy market who can use expertise in digital transformation to gain an advantage. Existing energy supply companies also need to move toward greater user-centricity if they are to remain competitive. According to [72], not all technical possibilities are being exploited in the area of digital customer-centricity, although companies are aware of the requirement, and initiatives and projects are in the planning stage or have been partially implemented (e.g., personalized targeting and retargeting, near-real time responsive points of sale, online access to consumption and billing data, automated interaction with customers via chatbots, choice of online payment options for customers, switching to other rate packages entirely online by customers, combining other products into an existing contract via online form).

4.3 Plant communication

An energy system in which energy conversion plants are increasingly installed and operated in a decentralized manner depends on powerful plant communication for monitoring and control. In the past, the electricity sector was dominated by a few large power plants, most of which were monitored and controlled locally. In the course of the energy transition, a large number of smaller power generation plants will be installed, most of which are already being marketed dynamically via intermediaries such as aggregators. The same will increasingly apply to controllable consumption devices in the future, which will have greater sensitivity to the availability of low-cost or low-CO₂ electricity.

"Plant communication to cope with the increasing decentralization of the energy system has already been implemented in some areas, but it needs to be consistently expanded and further developed."

Smart metering systems

The entry into force of the German Federal Act on the Digitalisation of the Energy Transition [91] laid the foundation for the introduction and roll-out of smart metering systems (smart meters for producers and consumers at the metering location level — all measuring points at metering points). This is seen as an essential building block for the digital transformation of energy supply and is intended to replace the installed and most widespread analog Ferraris electricity meters.

Metering systems are referred to as smart meters if they can digitally record, store, send and receive data. In this context, the term smart refers to the communication capability of the system to send and receive data. Digital measuring devices, compared to Ferraris meters, are referred to as modern metering devices (mME). A smart metering system is essentially made up of two components: a digital electricity meter, which is the modern metering device (mME), and the communication unit, which is the smart meter gateway (SMGW). In preparation for the roll-out of smart metering systems, particular focus has been placed on the SMGW as the security and trust anchor of the smart metering system [92].

As of August 2022, SMGWs from four manufacturers have been certified for use by the BSI [93]. According to the BSI, 46 companies are currently certified as SMGW administrators, although a certain degree of variation is to be expected here, as a certification with a validity is limited [94]. For the certification of SMGW, minimum requirements for the operation of an SMGW have been created according to BSI specifications. These define the system architecture, safety-related requirements, technical guideline TR-03109-1 to 6, assurance regarding the interoperability of the smart metering system and the application of smart metering PKI (SM-PKI) [95].

The regulatory market requirements regarding business and market processes have so far resulted in the following fundamental innovations due to the roll-out of smart meters, which are described in detail in the individual process documents of the German Federal Network Agency [96] and [97].

The Act on the Digitalisation of the Energy Transition also establishes the framework for the mandatory and/or optional roll-out of smart metering systems. In this context, the metering point operator is responsible for implementing any legal requirements. According to the law, an obligation or option to have the metering point operator install smart metering systems applies to the following groups of consumers and installations, subject to their requirements:

- 1) Mandatory for consumers of more than 6,000 kilowatt-hours per year; optional for consumers of < 6,000 kilowatt-hours, or at least equipped with a modern metering device by 2032.
- 2) Mandatory for all generation plants with a rated output of more than 7 kilowatts; optional for generation plants between 1 kilowatt and 7 kilowatts.
- 3) Mandatory for systems with a controllable consumption device, e.g., a heat pump or night storage heater.

Apart from the envisaged functionalities in the field of metering, the smart metering system provides the possibility to implement value-added services, which can be offered by market stakeholders to end customers. The services use the CLS channel of the smart meter gateway, for example, to monitor and control the systems connected via a control box, e.g., charging points, heat pumps or other power-intensive consumers [98].

The smart meter roll-out has often been the subject of controversy in the past [99]. On September 14, 2022, BMWK State Secretary Dr. Patrick Graichen stated during the 20th anniversary of the German Association of Energy Market Innovators (bne) that "practically nothing has been achieved" with smart meters in the past ten years [100]. He therefore announced a relaunch.

Plant communication in direct marketing

The mandatory remote controllability and remote readout of plants has long been regulated by law for direct marketing in the electricity sector in the EEG (currently EEG 2021 section 10b). The requirement has led to new plants in Germany that are intended for direct marketing being equipped with a communication interface. If marketing takes place via the standard reserve markets, further requirements for communication speed, latencies and transmission paths must be taken into account¹.

In practice, existing industrial or energy communication protocols such as Modbus TCP, IEC 60870-5-104 or OPC XML DA are used, some of which have been in use for a relatively long time and have not been further developed. Some equipment manufacturers also use proprietary solutions based on web services or other technology stacks. Protocols that have been described as smart grid protocols for years, such as IEC 61850 or Industry 4.0 protocols such as OPC UA, are currently rarely found in practical implementation, if at all. Here, there is a large divergence between the research landscape and current publications on communication protocols and their practical use.

¹ Minimum requirements for the information technology of the reserve provider for the provision of control reserve capacity; as at March 01, 2022

Plant communication in grid operation

In addition to plant marketing, operators of decentralized generation plants are also obliged to maintain communication channels to the connection grid operator, depending on the plant capacity.

After the plant has been registered with its corresponding master data (such as plant output, plant type and location), transaction data is transmitted to the connection grid operator at regular intervals via this interface for grid monitoring. This can take the form of performance data, for example. Similarly, grid operators can use these data channels to exert a controlling influence on plants. One example of this is the curtailment of power generation plants as part of feed-in management.

In the past, ripple control technology was often used for this purpose (especially for controlling night storage heaters), but it does not allow granular control of individual plants. However, this variant of unidirectional plant communication is increasingly being replaced [101]. The technical design of this plant communication in the process network of the connection grid operator is described in detail in the respective technical connection conditions (TAB) and is often based on industrial communication protocols such as IEC 60870-5-104 or IEC 61850. In principle, the use of the smart meter gateway infrastructure is also conceivable for these use cases, as they are also envisaged in the step-by-step model for the further development of the smart metering system [98].

The Redispatch 2.0 industry solution has been implemented since 2022 for power generation plants with an installed capacity of 100 kilowatts or more and storage facilities. In this context, an additional infrastructure was established for the exchange of master and transaction data between plant operators and different grid operators at all grid levels. The data exchange takes place via the existing central data platform Connect+, to which all affected plant operators and grid operators are directly or indirectly connected [102]. With the help of the exchanged planning and forecast data, grid operation is optimized with the inclusion of the participating plants. The connection to the data platform is made via SFTP or web service [103].

4.4 Grid operation and planning

The digital transformation of grids, plants and devices

Since the start of the energy transition, the digital transformation of power grids in Germany has gained a considerable amount of momentum at the different grid levels and has been implemented in the extra-high voltage and high-voltage grids in particular. There have been particular results at these levels thanks to the integration of decentralized, renewable power plants, and in achieving this there has been a significant need to exchange information between grid operators to ensure stable grid operation. The systemic relevance of the lower voltage levels was much lower, and the costs for a secured and stable digital transformation of these operating resources were not justified. This is changing with increasing decentralized generation in the distribution grid levels and the additional electrical loads from the transportation and heating sectors. Generation and load data provision methodology (GLDPM) and Redispatch 2.0 are excellent examples of new processes that cannot be implemented without a seamless digital transformation. In the Redispatch 2.0 process, for example, it is necessary to determine generation and load flexibility on the basis of digital grid models and to communicate them to the extra-high voltage grid for a forecast period of at least 36 hours, along with the corresponding effectiveness on grid interconnection points. This process currently includes generation plants with an installed capacity of at

least 100 kilowatts (as well as smaller plants with actuation capabilities). These plants are predominantly part of medium-voltage grids. In a future Redispatch 3.0 process, micro-flexibility from low-voltage grids and smaller generation plants will also be included in the process [104].

"The digital transformation is already at an advanced stage in transmission grids and must now be extended to distribution grids."

The need and urgency for grid expansion can be reduced if grids are operated closer to their design limits. Monitoring and smaller-scale control options are then necessary to actively avoid particularly high grid loads, meaning that energy flows need to be controlled. At present, distribution grids are generally not yet at their load limits, and comprehensive status monitoring is not yet mandatory; therefore, for economic reasons, this has only been implemented in very select grids so far. In addition, the current incentive regulation puts grid reinforcement in a better position than operational optimization.

In the field of grid control technology, many communication protocol standards are in use. Many components of the power grid have been in operation for many decades and, in principle, continue to perform their tasks reliably; however, the communication technology is just as old as these components. The system technology has grown over the years and has been adapted to new requirements only when necessary. When it comes to the transformation to end-to-end, interoperable grid control technology, this must therefore function equally well with new and old technologies, even if there are huge deficits in functionality and cybersecurity in some cases. In the case of switchable loads in low voltage, simple unidirectional communication technology such as ripple control technology is still used frequently, as are fixed timers to control or predefine system behavior (e.g., within the framework of section 14a EnWG) [105].

Projections and forecasts of electricity feed-in from wind turbines and photovoltaic systems are important for the cost-efficient integration of volatile generation into the power grid and for ensuring grid stability. Transmission and distribution system operators need these for operational grid management. They are also necessary for the cost-efficient intraday marketing of EEG-subsidized feed-in, which is currently possible up to five minutes before delivery. The projections provide the basis for determining the current grid load, which in turn is a key parameter in monitoring grid stability. As measured values of the actual power fed into the grid are only available for a small proportion of all plants in near-real time, projection methods are needed to determine the current feed-in. Today, projections are made primarily based on available real-time measurements of feed-in from wind power and photovoltaic reference systems.

A growing challenge is the steady increase in photovoltaic own consumption, combined with battery storage, electric vehicles and flexible loads used initially to maximize local own consumption. This will lead to fundamental changes in photovoltaic feed-in profiles. While photovoltaic feed-in was previously largely determined by the weather, the interaction of generation with different types of consumption and control strategies at the individual system level is now becoming increasingly important.

4.5 Cybersecurity in the energy system

The advancing digital transformation of the energy system has made protecting energy supply infrastructures from cyberattacks increasingly important in recent years. Due to the central role of energy supply as critical infrastructure, a growing threat situation from cyberattacks results in huge challenges with regard to ensuring permanent security of supply.

These challenges are amplified by the nature of the energy system as a complex, integrated and geographically distributed infrastructure whose operational management spans multiple physical and IT levels. These IT levels, which are mostly divided into "company IT" and "process-related OT" (operational IT — operational technologies, systems for controlling industrial plants), are characterized — with respect to the state of the art — by a great divergence in terms of the description of cyber threats, the monitoring and surveillance of security-related information, and the safeguarding of the respective components and communication pathways. This makes it much more difficult to implement end-to-end risk assessments and consistent IT security measures.

In addition to the changed threat situation due to cyberattacks, the continuously evolving legal framework in the area of cybersecurity also poses challenges for energy supply companies.

The changed threat situation due to cyberattacks

The digital transformation of the energy supply, strongly driven by decentralization and liberalization and the associated new market partners and market processes, has led to a huge increase in the number and complexity of the information and communication systems needed to ensure the functioning of the energy supply. The scope for attack from cyber threats, which is constantly increasing due to this digital transformation, is again greatly increased by new decentralized technologies and trends, such as the Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT) or smart city and smart home. In the same context, the dependence of the energy supply on an information and communication infrastructure that functions at all times is growing. At the same time, cyberattacks on all sectors of the economy, administration and public infrastructures are increasing worldwide, in some cases dramatically in recent years [106].

The motivations for cyberattacks vary, as do their complexity and possibility of imitation, e.g., through known vulnerabilities and corresponding available tools or availability as services, such as "ransomware as a service" (RaaS). In quantitative terms, cybercrime plays the largest role as a driving force, and among the attack methods used for this purpose, ransomware attacks in particular — so-called extortion Trojans — have increased drastically in recent years [106]. Direct attacks on the process infrastructure do not usually take place as a result of these attacks, or at least are not the direct target of the attack. However, the impact of encrypting IT infrastructure, such as file or email servers, for the execution of market processes is huge and can also indirectly sabotage the supply process. Due to the dependencies of companies, supply chain attacks also occur, in which dependent companies can become the direct or indirect target of such an attack. For companies in the energy supply sector, this type of attack can also pose the risk of company or customer data being published. In addition to the economic damage, it is primarily the loss of trust that can lead to a permanent market disadvantage.

In the area of OT, the situation is somewhat more differentiated. Here, it is primarily complex, multi-stage attacks that target the OT infrastructure and thus directly influence the supply process. In contrast to company IT, these attacks are mostly zero-day attacks, i.e., attacks that exploit unknown vulnerabilities in the product. Advanced persistent threats (APT) pose a particular threat to companies, as attackers are able to remain unnoticed in the victim's IT infrastructure for a very long period of time and collect information. The attack on Ukraine's power supply in 2015 [107] represents this kind of complex approach and is an example of the effort required in the preparation and execution of such complex cyberattacks. It can therefore be concluded that such attacks must mainly be financed by state actors and are therefore motivated by politics or terrorism. In this context, the development of the malware used continues to move in the direction of the special circumstances of OT infrastructure and also of remote-control technology. Cyber frameworks such as Pipedream [108] now represent a new level of threat to OT infrastructures.

Another cyber threat to the energy supply arises from the increasing use of public communication infrastructures. Although data transmission is usually secured via VPN and encrypted, if the communication channels or infrastructure are sabotaged, the data transmission will still be disrupted. A recent example of this is the attack on the communication infrastructure of the KA-SAT satellite internet network. As an impact that was not the direct target of the attack, the modems of at least 3,000 wind turbines were infected by malware, disrupting remote access to the turbines' control system.

Legal framework for cybersecurity

The increase in the cyber threat is countered by government measures to prevent cyberattacks. However, the legal framework resulting from various legal principles also poses a challenge for many companies, both with regard to the creation of the technical prerequisites, as well as regarding the availability and financing of qualified personnel. The legal requirements for companies from the energy sector comprise the combination of various laws and regulations at different EU and national levels.

The development of the legal framework was actively supported by the white paper from the German Association of Energy and Water Industries (BDEW), with version 1.0 published in 2011 and the current version dating from 2018 [109].

In 2015, the German Federal Act to Increase the Security of Information Technology Systems (IT Security Act) [110] came into force as part of the German federal government's Digital Agenda. In addition to the goal already clearly set out in the name, it essentially concerns the prevention of failures with dramatic consequences for the economy, the state and society.

The Act on the Federal Office for Information Security (BSI Act) [111] assigns the BSI the role of the central reporting office for the IT security of critical infrastructures, as well as regulating the obligation to provide proof for operators of critical infrastructures with regard to IT security compliance. The BSI Kritis Regulation [112] then defines the critical infrastructure (KRITIS) sectors and KRITIS thresholds for plants.

At the European level, the Directive on security of network and information systems (NIS Directive) came into force in 2016 [8]. This directive was updated in 2019 with the EU Cybersecurity Act [9].

The IT security catalogs according to EnWG define the IT requirements for grid operators (electricity and gas) and operators of energy plants, and include the mandatory introduction of an information security management system (ISMS) according to ISO/IEC 27001.

The most recent iteration of the legal framework, the IT Security Act 2.0 (IT-SiG 2.0) [113], came into force in May 2021. Among other things, this extends the instruments of the BSI, obligates companies to use systems and processes for attack detection from 2023, and regulates trustwor-thiness along the supply chain for IT products. At the European level, the EU Cybersecurity Act has been in force since 2021.

"Increasing digital transformation and advanced cyberattacks make the energy system vulnerable, while security measures are often still inadequate."

5 The digital transformation of the energy system — 14 theses for success

Based on the previously described state of the digital transformation of the energy transition and a literature-based gap analysis regarding the potential of digital transformation approaches, Fraunhofer experts have drawn up a series of theses that result in concrete recommendations for action for the efficient and sustainable use of digital tools in the decarbonization of the energy system.

External experts from industry and research were consulted in the course of expert workshops and interviews. During this process, the collected theses were discussed, sharpened and validated. The final results of this process are the following 14 theses, which Fraunhofer Energy Research considers essential for the implementation of the energy transition. As already mentioned at the outset, the theses do not claim to cover every eventuality — together with the recommendations for action derived from them, they were selected by the experts on the basis of their relevance and the option of feasibility in the next five years.

The theses build on the analyses of the previous chapters and formulate success-critical recommendations, structured according to the thematic focus areas of data economics, sector coupling, plant communication, grid operation and planning, and cybersecurity. Finally, a light is shone on the European dimension in the digital transformation of the energy system — since the digital energy transition in Germany is embedded in a European strategy and a European system of regulations and should not be planned and implemented exclusively at national level.

5.1 Focus on data economy

Modern AI processes for identifying and leveraging efficiency potentials, as well as for managing complex interactions between a multitude of stakeholders, require new ways of sharing information between these stakeholders. In the future, a significant acceleration of the energy supply transformation will be necessary, which would be difficult to achieve with existing processes. One approach to meeting this challenge is to create an openly accessible and trustworthy data economy that enables independent energy supply with the aid of resilient ICT infrastructures, despite new global political conditions.

Thesis 1: In the future, the value of energy will depend on linked data

Brief explanation

Both with the increase in hours thanks to high shares of renewable energy from wind turbines and photovoltaic systems, as well as the general, presumably longer lasting, increase in the price level on the electricity market, the importance of price spreads is increasing significantly. The back-ground to this is, in particular, generation from wind and solar energy, which has near-zero marginal costs and influences market events due to natural fluctuation. As a result, the value of the energy essentially depends on a large number of time-dependent factors and on the data behind them. Consequently, there is a greater focus on when energy is used than on the exclusive consumption of primarily zero-marginal-cost renewable electricity or energy flows based on it [114, 115].

In addition to the above factors, uncertainties are of particular relevance to the value of energy. The higher the level of uncertainty (especially in the electricity market), the higher the balancing costs of the power imbalance. A historical example of such a situation is the solar eclipse on March 20, 2015. Due to the increased uncertainty regarding the effects on photovoltaic generation, increased — and consequently very costly — control reserve capacity was provided. As more useful data becomes available — from meteorology or photovoltaic generation data, for example — it will be possible to take a more effective course of action, as the latest forecasting method developments show. In addition, larger, high-quality datasets supported forecasting in general; for example, to improve the marketing of fluctuating renewable energies [116–119].

In addition to the electricity sector, the guiding principle of the thesis applies equally to other sectors, such as evidencing the type of hydrogen used (green, gray, blue, etc). A concrete example of this in production is low-CO₂ steel [120]. In order to maintain the value of the end product, it must be proven beyond any doubt that the hydrogen used has been produced entirely on the basis of renewable electricity [121].

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

Operators of decentralized energy systems

For the operators of decentralized energy systems, the importance of sensor and data quality, as well as data availability, is increasing. At the same time, this has to be implemented as cost-efficiently as possible. If these conditions are not in place, there are potential economic disadvantages or reduced revenue over the entire life cycle of a plant. In this respect, the operational phase is of the utmost relevance [122–125].

Energy traders and grid operators

As already shown in the forecast example, a comprehensive data basis is becoming more important both in electricity trading and in the planning of associated market system services, such as control reserve capacity. In addition, the interconnection with the electricity sector — with e-mobility or the hydrogen sector, for example — creates new challenges in the management of these interdependencies, which can only succeed with new and expanded simpler data exchanges and the analysis of the information they contain. You can find further details about this below in theses 4 and 6 under "Focus on sector coupling" [21, 126].

End consumers and grid operators

A large number of new stakeholders, especially prosumers and flexsumers, are becoming more integrated into the energy system with their data; for example, when they gain new relevance for distribution grid operation with (flexible) decentralized energy systems in the context of Redispatch 3.0². The value of the associated data is increasing, while at the same time, it may only be possible to process this with a (very) high level of data protection. Above all, this processing will require data ownership solutions such as data space approaches as well as the application of secure options for removing references to people, e.g., machine learning (ML) methods based on large datasets [127–129].

Key messages to political actors

In principle, the regulatory side must establish various incentives so that there is ultimately a very active exchange of data between the various stakeholders. The following issues in particular need to be addressed at this point [130–133]:

- 1) Unresolved questions of data ownership regarding decentralized energy system data must be clarified so that there is a legally secure basis for data trading.
- 2) Building on this, there should be legal security so that, in principle, operators of decentralized energy systems in particular can access certain datasets for their systems. Here, the relevant applications in the area of plant flexibilization are to be enabled in particular.
- 3) For these datasets, as well as in general, the FAIR principle (findability, accessibility, interoperability and reusability) should be prescribed as far as possible for every data exchange so that the costs of a data transfer are as low as possible at scale. This relates in particular to public data and open data.
- 4) As a data space also becomes more attractive if a lot of useful data is available and this data also costs as little as possible, the principle of "public money public data" should provide a free foundation of data that can be used for a variety of commercial as well as scientific purposes.

² Redispatch 3.0 involves the integration of decentralized energy systems into the low-voltage grid that have not yet been covered by Redispatch 2.0 (usually generation plants with an installed capacity of 100 kW or more).

The current process landscape is characterized by many bilateral and individual central platforms such as Connect+ in the Redispatch 2.0 context. In this area, proprietary and (partially) standard-ized solutions are in use that do not meet the requirements of an energy data space within the meaning of the European directional decision to establish a European Energy Data Space (EDS).

Nevertheless, an EDS is not a final solution in itself, but must be integrated into the existing ICT landscape and used especially where a large number of stakeholders meet, and data ownership is a core requirement. Here, new options for creating a data economy are emerging in the area of energy supply with its sectors, which are being newly or increasingly linked (mobility, housing industry, ICT, etc.).

For the development of an EDS, governance, standardization and related certification activities are to be promoted initially, as demonstrated by the advanced data space initiatives Catena-X, for the organization of the automotive value chain, as well as the Mobility Data Space (formerly Datenraum Mobilität) for the exchange of mobility-related data (weather, infrastructure data, etc.) [78, 134, 135].

Thesis 2: Digitally driven value creation networks are the future of the energy system

Brief explanation

Digital transformation not only (partially) automates existing processes, but also offers the opportunity to redesign the existing process landscape to adapt to the "new energy world" [136]. Concrete examples of this advancing development are detailed below:

- An increase in the level of automation in all areas of grid operational management is to be expected. Specifically, the German Association for Electrical, Electronic & Information Technologies (VDE) generally envisages systems that react fully autonomously in a limited application scenario without the need for any human interaction, which is referred to as "autonomy level 3 condition automation" [137]. An example is the conditional automated control of island networks in the distribution grid in the event of a blackout. This allows individual grid areas to be operated independently of the higher-level grid and is generally known as "micro grid" functionality [137].
- Digitally driven aggregators are challenging the traditional commodity business model of previous energy suppliers. The core element of this development are the options of decentralized energy systems, which are interconnected by aggregators. Original equipment manufacturers of decentralized energy systems in particular now supply suitable ICT-based energy services in addition to pure hardware [138–140].
- Due to the increasing shortage of skilled workers, new start-ups are relying in particular on increasing digital transformation in the skilled trades in order to bring about the necessary acceleration in the number of new installations, especially involving photovoltaic and heat pump technology [141, 142].

Customer-centric business models that consistently rely on IT tools can achieve significant
market share in electricity sales in short periods of time, as demonstrated by company examples from the UK which have achieved a market share gain of 1 percent per year. From an ICT
perspective, self-developed, cloud-based platforms play a central role here, for example [143].

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

As the above case studies make clear, it is now impossible to imagine the energy system without the influence of digital transformation. Consequently, all companies in the energy sector that do not invest consistently and purposefully in digital transformation are very unlikely to be competitive in the future. It should be noted that the conventional digital transformation of individual processes or stages of the value chain is no longer sufficient. The task now is to form digitally supported value creation networks that go beyond individual stakeholders to link resources and capabilities in a profitable manner.

Key messages to political actors

Authorities that act as central bodies for the practical implementation of the energy transition must also consistently digitalize their administrative processes, as only then will they be in a position to accompany the speed of process redesign in energy-relevant companies in a target-oriented manner. A suitable target could be the complete, automated building permit of a public charging facility, for example.

Key recommendations for action

Every stakeholder relevant to energy supply should consider digital transformation as an iterative "core business" because it will make a significant contribution to bringing about an efficient and effective implementation of the energy transition. The guiding principles of a real-time energy system must be the defining orientation.

As a legislator, it is essential to demand digital transformation with a focus on regulated processes. One practical example, which has recently been taken into account in section 14e EnWG, is the increasing use of web portals for processing grid connection requests (e.g., for renewablesbased plants up to 30 kilowatts). Here, approval was able to be reduced from around eight weeks of processing time to as little as one minute, according to users' experiences.

When introducing such instruments, it should generally be noted that regulation should be open to new technologies, so that the energy industry is as free as possible to develop its own solutions that are as cost-effective as possible. Alternatively, it is possible, as with section 14e EnWG, to transfer successful approaches of individual stakeholders to the entire industry. After implementation, the corresponding solutions must still be regularly scrutinized and, if necessary, renewed [144, 145].

Thesis 3: An independent and resilient European energy system requires a base EU ICT system

Brief explanation

Assuming that the digital transformation in the energy sector will continue, it can be assumed that the dependence of a secure energy supply on the functionality of a base ICT system will increase. In this case, this specifically includes the following components: platforms, infrastructure components, data models, security architectures and interface solutions (e.g., ICT components of the International Data Spaces Association in the data space environment).

To the extent that these components must meet European requirements (e.g., in the sense of the GDPR), and are also created with driving European participation at least, they each form an important building block that leads step by step to European energy sovereignty and resilience. The following key factors should play an exemplary role in this process:

- Application of the "public money public code" principle to support public infrastructures and sustainable ICT infrastructures [146].
- Open source helps to minimize dependency on individual stakeholders ("bottlenecks"), especially in the area of critical infrastructure.

European expertise is to be seen as a basic prerequisite for this development and requires action from both an economic and political perspective. At the heart of these activities is a reduction in supply dependencies on non-European countries, especially in critical infrastructures such as the energy sector. In the best-case scenario, these dependencies should be completely eliminated, especially in the case of critical processes, or, as an alternative, strongly diversified.

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

At present, the active (further) development of open-source ICT components is not part of the core business of the energy sector. Here, a transformation toward more IT expertise is underway, as only then can it be ensured that continuous further development is available as an option should non-European stakeholders withdraw their support at short notice.

This dependence on non-European stakeholders should be taken into account when weighing investment decisions for new ICT components. This explicitly does not rule out non-European cooperation, but both sides must take on a substantial role in the joint activities.

Key messages to political actors

Sovereignty and resilience are two approaches that are very much intertwined and therefore support each other; however, this also means that they are interdependent. The COVID-19 pandemic and Russia's war of aggression on Ukraine have significantly changed the social context. In particular, the increase in uncertainty regarding the reliability of supply chains, which among other things specifically affects digital transformation in the form of semiconductor shortages, is currently causing production delays. To ensure that these new conditions remain manageable, a new guiding principle must also be formed in the area of digital transformation, resulting in the emergence of a base EU ICT structure [147, 148].

It is necessary to identify the non-European dependencies within the critical infrastructure to preserve sovereignty while also increasing resilience. This primarily concerns critical processes. With the aid of action plans for emergency situations to be developed by the relevant stakeholders, it is possible to continue to guarantee the continuous provision of software and hardware for the base ICT structure. As a result, ICT systems or associated supply chains in the energy sector are more likely to remain functional or intact.

At the same time, measures already initiated to reduce primarily singular dependencies must be sustained and expanded. A topical example is the European Chips Act, which is currently under discussion as an instrument to help alleviate the ongoing semiconductor shortage. With a view to expansion, the legal requirement should be that all critical process flows of energy supply take place exclusively in EU member states, so that an enforcement of European principles can be ensured.

Furthermore, the functionality of ICT within the energy sector should be ensured at all times in crisis situations. This includes both the continuation of identification and promotion of solutions involving no or little ICT as a final fallback approach for (partially) securing the energy supply in extreme scenarios [149, 150].

In addition, there should be greater investment on the regulatory side for a base EU ICT structure. This should include the following measures:

- Orienting the upcoming digital funding policy, e.g., within the framework of research programs or investment programs, toward a stronger open-source orientation in the context of the base ICT infrastructure
- Direct support of the energy sector through accompanying open-source programs
- Strengthening European value creation in the ICT sector, in particular through the in-house use of EU-based ICT within in-house administration processes

5.2 Focus on sector coupling

Through the smart interconnection of the electricity, heating, gas, industrial and transportation sectors, flexibility potentials arising through synergies can be harnessed. These make it possible to better coordinate the availability and demand of energy in terms of both time and space and to effectively compensate for fluctuations in renewable energies [151]. Electrification is a key aspect of this, enabling the electricity sector to supply as great a proportion of the other sectors as possible with renewably generated energy [86]. Digitalized and automated sector coupling therefore represents a key technology for the efficient success of the energy transition [152].

Thesis 4: Without digitalized sector coupling, the costs of transforming energy systems will rise significantly

Brief explanation

Digitalized sector coupling opens up opportunities to create financial incentives for flexible, gridserving behavior (variable electricity tariffs, avoidance of infrastructure and grid usage costs), demand-side management, vehicle-to-grid and power-to-X technologies. Only by expanding digital transformation will it be possible to economically and quickly implement sector coupling. This necessary digital transformation expansion can involve consistent ICT integration between sectors (including standardized data spaces, smart metering systems, fully digitalized and automated processes, high data availability, digital tools, and energy management and control systems). This also helps to manage the increasing complexity of the energy system. Without digital transformation, these tasks cannot be accomplished; inadequate digital transformation also leads to significant inefficiencies and additional costs [153].

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

In order to network the electricity, heating, industrial and transportation sectors sustainably and efficiently, key stakeholders must use technologies that enable the different sectors to be integrated with energy systems and view energy in an integrated manner.

The use of digital technologies helps to reduce the costs of the energy transition, to make better use of scarce resources across sectors, and to exchange information more quickly. Barriers such as lack of interoperability, lack of opportunities for coordinated operation of technologies from different sectors, insufficient deployment and marketing opportunities of sector coupling technologies, lack of acceptance [86], as well as control of plants based on them, are therefore moving into focus for stakeholders such as generators, providers, grid operators, suppliers and users of technologies for sector coupling and planning services.

In this context, a digitally supported use of synergies between sectors, with the provision options of renewable energies and cross-sectoral energy requirements, is to be aimed for. The goal is direct energy use as it is generated, resulting in less need for intermediate storage and associated losses. With efficient and spatially coordinated digitalized sector coupling, there are a number of opportunities for new, future-proof business models, for increasing the transmission capacities of the electrical supply network and for improving the resilience of the overall energy system [86].

Key messages to political actors

Primary energy demand and energy-related CO₂ emissions must be reduced and independence from fossil fuels increased. In this regard, the basic prerequisite is that digital transformation in the area of energy infrastructures is accelerated. This would be possible, for example, by creating incentives and business models for extensive roll-out of ICT structures and technologies for sector coupling, or by promoting technological development. It is also recommended that the smart meter infrastructure, as the basic digital infrastructure for all sectors, should be developed further without delay and that alternatives are considered (see thesis 7). The creation of an innovative framework for sustainable digital transformation and the advancement of open data are also necessary. Not least, emphasis should be on the design of a competitive use of data and a personnel and modernization offensive of public administration at all levels, as well as the firm anchoring of digital expertise in education, research and management. Only once these prerequisites are met can energy-efficient and economically effective sector coupling succeed, accompanied by the integration of high proportions of renewable energies into the energy system.

Key recommendations for action

Digital sector coupling and comprehensive consideration of the energy system are what we should be aiming for. In doing so, consistent ICT integration between sectors, fully digitalized processes with a high degree of automation, and an increase in data quality and quantity in the energy system must be demanded and promoted.

Controllability should be a prerequisite for all relevant applications and systems, while projects that take into account and interconnect all energy-relevant sectors should receive significant funding. In addition, the creation and expansion of educational opportunities to promote systemic understanding of planning and implementation for digitalized cross-sector approaches is essential.

Thesis 5: Viable energy business models for digitalized energy systems integration at the district level are currently failing due to regulatory hurdles

Brief explanation

At the district level (understood here as the smallest scale level of the energy system, containing several spatially connected buildings including public infrastructure), the sectors (electricity, heating, mobility, and currently gas) all come together. For efficient operation of the energy system, it is important to make use of sector coupling to tap into the necessary decentralized flexibility of the small-scale supply structure with geographic diversity.

By balancing energy flows locally and increasing the quota for own supply, synergies can be used and economic advantages can be achieved by increasing efficiency and avoiding infrastructure and grid usage costs of higher infrastructure levels. In order to establish solutions for local energy management, a high degree of automation and digital transformation is a prerequisite to minimize costs and effort for operators and therefore achieve competitiveness. However, viable digital business models for the energy sector at the district level are currently severely hampered by regulatory hurdles or fail completely as a result of them (e.g., grid charges do not reflect actual grid usage, taxes, levies or apportionments are inconsistent across different energy sources, switching between marketing models for renewable energy plants is not possible, double levy burden for decentralized storage, confusing multitude of different laws and funding mechanisms). The regulatory prerequisites for business models at the district level are currently not in place, meaning that digital solutions as the basis of business models are unable to exploit their advantages in terms of the degree of automation and smart methods, therefore inhibiting the development of flexibility potential at the district level [154–157].

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

District solutions increase the integration capacity of renewable energies for the entire energy system [156, 157] and enable grid-compatible district behavior. However, innovations are hampered by the current regulatory framework and organizational efforts for market participants. For example, a combined heat and power district approach, in which electricity and heat are exchanged between buildings within the district, has not yet been possible due to the existing regulatory framework.

From the perspective of the stakeholders, the relevant laws of the legal framework (in Germany: EnWG, StromStG, GEG, GEIG, EWG and KWKG) are characterized by major differences on a district level and different legal consequences depending on the law. At present, no law aims to exploit local potentials at this district level, although potential for a climate-neutral energy supply is lacking here.

Laws relevant to the district are subject to different regulatory objectives, so districts must accommodate all stakeholders [158]. Stakeholders such as district operators, public utility companies, municipalities, grid operators, providers and users of technologies for sector coupling and energy and planning services currently only have the option of finding viable digitalized district concepts with integrated energy systems within the existing legal framework and closely monitoring amendments to the regulatory framework.

Key messages to political actors

Districts can play an important role in the success of the energy transition, as they open up new efficiency potential and options for action at local and regional level. Economically viable district concepts are necessary for the transformation process of the energy system and demonstrably increase its social acceptance [158].

In implementation, however, district solutions have so far only been a marginal phenomenon with narrow limits in terms of approval procedures and additional requirements. Energy business models at the district level are not yet viable as currently there are no economically viable options for the local exchange and balancing of energy (e.g., infrastructure and grid usage costs when using the public power grid are currently not limited to the corresponding grid level). Therefore, there is currently no motivation for grid-compatible and grid-serving behavior at the district level. The current regulatory and organizational framework and its lack of clarity represent an off-putting hurdle for market participants.

Key recommendations for action

The energy sector is more heavily regulated than almost any other industry. The breakthrough of digital innovations is hampered by these narrow limits imposed by regulation — including at the district level. Regulatory and organizational requirements must be standardized and reduced.

Conditions must be created to motivate grid-compatible behavior with district solutions (e.g., limit infrastructure and grid usage costs to the appropriate grid level when using the public power

grid). Furthermore, an innovation-friendly regulatory framework for viable energy sector business models must be implemented at the district level. In order to achieve the increase in user acceptance necessary for the success of the "local energy transition", innovations for user-friendly and consumer-friendly business and tariff models must be promoted; for example, those that strengthen the priority use of locally generated renewable energies.

Thesis 6:

Efficient decarbonization of the heating sector can only be achieved with digital transformation

Brief explanation

To efficiently decarbonize the heating sector, it is necessary to control plants in a networked and smart manner, thereby unlocking synergies and flexibility through electrification of heat supply, heat storage and power grid compatibility in combination with smart management. This is the only way that the integration of renewable energies and CHPs can be successful on a large scale and also requires the integration of key technologies (low-temperature heating networks, efficient heat pumps, solar collectors, decentralized feed-in and waste heat utilization). To date, however, there has been virtually no digital transformation in the heating sector in the operation of heating networks, generators and storage facilities or in the area of infrastructure planning [159–163].

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

The heating sector accounts for just under half of Germany's energy consumption. A key starting point for decarbonization is increased integration of renewable energies and CO₂-free heat into the heating sector. Heat suppliers, generators and network operators are faced with the task of integrating decentralized, partly fluctuating supply. The transformation toward 4th generation heating networks [164] poses challenges for stakeholders in terms of increasing energy efficiency, increased integration of sustainable heat sources (e.g., renewable energies or waste heat from industry), moving away from centralized generation concepts, third-party or prosumer access, or integration into other energy-related sectors.

Diversification, decentralization, flexibilization and decarbonization of heat supply will require farreaching restructuring measures [163]. In order to handle large volumes of data and smart controls, stakeholders will have to deal with the increased deployment and use of smart metering systems and the digital mapping of the grid infrastructure based on them, as well as digital technologies for the heating market [160].

The heating sector has an immense need for digital transformation along the entire value chain. The basic prerequisite for using digital technologies is well-managed data collection that is as automated as possible. In addition, the targeted use of modern digital transformation tools means that operational optimizations and interactions between systems as well as adapted business models can be planned and controlled [163].

Key messages to political actors

Digital transformation and networking in the heating sector is forward-looking and should be pursued as quickly as possible, although major efforts are still needed in terms of education, dissemination and implementation, which must be addressed as soon as possible. Stakeholders must first build up their expertise in digital transformation, which is currently still lacking.

These stakeholders are motivated to implement digital transformation measures quickly; however, bringing about digital transformation projects without funding for innovation and investment is problematic. For example, there is a need to promote research and development in the areas of sensor technology, actuator technology, control and regulation, and to continue and expand the relevant funding instruments, such as the German federal funding for efficient heat networks scheme (BEW). In addition, the implementation of digital transformation projects should be promoted and tested — in real laboratories, for example.

Key recommendations for action

Digital transformation measures can significantly improve knowledge about the status of the grid, allowing optimization potential to be leveraged. In particular, potential can be tapped into through the use of digital technologies in conjunction with the increased use of smart metering points [161]. However, there is a need for action when it comes to increasing rates of digital transformation.

Promoting innovation and investment in sustainable supply concepts at the municipal level can help here. The same applies to improved planning certainty for improving the metering and ICT infrastructure, and for expanding the district and local heating infrastructure. Further recommendations for action are to increase the promotion of research and development as well as investments and research activities in the digital transformation of the heating sector (such as linking promotional bank KfW's energy efficiency programs with smart home energy management systems or linking incentives for building refurbishment with digital transformation approaches).

5.3 Focus on plant communication

Plant communication, which connects future stakeholders in the energy system, will be subject to even higher reliability and resilience requirements in the future. An energy system based on the orchestration of renewable generators and controllable loads requires a reliable control system that has low failure rates and resilient fallback levels in case of failures.

Thesis 7: The smart metering system will be overtaken by other solutions in plant communication

Brief explanation

The effectiveness of the smart meter roll-out will depend largely on the added value it creates. Apart from planning, the added value for power grid operators lies in the increased ability to observe and control the grids across all voltage levels. However, despite technical feasibility, current generation lacks straightforward options for using the collected data in live operation. Symptomatic of the failure to achieve the roll-out target is the fact that parallel channels (e.g., manufacturer-side backend systems or home energy management systems outside the SMGW) are increasingly being used to collect transaction data from plant operation.

In this context, the costs of rolling out smart metering systems are not aligned with the potential impact, which in the current generation is mainly seen in savings in personnel deployment in metering point operation. The smart metering system is primarily being considered in the electricity sector, while the other sectors (gas, heating, water) have so far been treated as secondary to electricity.

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

Grid operators cannot rely solely on the smart meter roll-out as an efficient data source, but should also consider parallel data channels, e.g., cloud backend systems from equipment manufacturers. If necessary, individual support points from datasets of smart metering systems should also be sufficient for grid operators. As part of this, however, it is also necessary to simplify access to this metering data.

Together with policymakers and regulators, practicable concepts should be developed that enable efficient data communication while still maintaining protection goals such as data confidentiality. It should be practical and economical for grid operators to use plant master and transaction data for the purposes of grid planning and operation. For data protection reasons, it is important to identify a temporal and spatial granularity that is in line with requirements.

Key messages to political actors

The role of the smart metering system and, in particular, the smart meter gateway, which was developed and launched on the market with high security requirements, should be further developed against the backdrop of roll-out challenges and the market penetration of parallel communication channels that may take place in the meantime. The smart meter gateway can continue to play the role of trust anchor in a system architecture in which transaction data from plants is also routed through other channels.

Based on the initial situation described above, the following key recommendations were identified:

- The implementation of technical solutions for cross-operator communication (e.g., between control systems and manufacturer backend systems) should be promoted
- The fundamentally important requirements for security and data protection that apply to smart meter gateway infrastructure should also apply to the parallel infrastructures described if necessary in an adapted form
- The smart meter gateway should be seen as working alongside parallel infrastructures emerging in the marketplace

Thesis 8: The energy transition requires plant communication based on the latest IT technologies and open documentation

Brief explanation

Standardization in the area of plant communication is not keeping pace with current or future communication needs. While non-interoperable, proprietary implementations on the part of individual stakeholders must be avoided, current efforts toward standardization are far too slow, with a few exceptions. Currently, plant communication is based on the implementation of proprietary data models based on outdated communication protocols (IEC 60870-5-104, Modbus TCP). The results of recent standardization efforts (IEC 61850, IEC 61400-2) have not seen much use in practice [165]. For this reason, a large proportion of the time and therefore also the budget of digital transformation projects often goes into establishing communication with plants. As a result, many new technologies cannot be evaluated in their entirety for the energy sector.

To implement the energy transition as quickly as required, it is necessary for standardization to support the innovation speed of technological advances. In other sectors, the industry-wide enforcement of expandable de facto standards has become increasingly established as the way to proceed (e.g., web technologies).

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

The stakeholders involved, in particular manufacturers and infrastructure and platform operators, must also be prepared for increased innovation speed in the area of plant communication, as future requirements will only become more concrete in the next few years. To enable interoperability between components, operators should emphasize that components use expandable, well-defined standards and that the data models and semantics used are openly documented. With regard to communication protocols, a switch should be made to flexibly deployable web technologies in order to be able to respond to emerging requirements.

Key messages to political actors

Standardization processes that cannot keep up with the required pace of the digital transformation of the energy system are to be viewed as obstacles. Standardization that responds quickly to new requirements and is developed significantly by manufacturers and operators together can increase interoperability. However, it remains essential that interfaces for plant communication are based on modern communication technologies and that the data models used are disclosed.

The development of interoperable data models and communication interfaces should be encouraged, and manufacturers should build on established technologies. The documentation of data models also enables third parties to create interoperability between components, even if data models do not follow uniform semantics.

Thesis 9: Modern plant communication enables plug-and-play and crossstakeholder process automation

Brief explanation

The continuously increasing number of heterogeneous plants in the energy system must be increasingly better coordinated to ensure safe, secure, reliable and ecological system operation. Reconciliation is increasingly algorithmic, with different goals in mind for plant owners. The integration of plants into the overall system and the variety of deployment and marketing options, between own consumption optimization and grid/system services (also known as multi-use plant deployment), requires simplified processes that can be automated.

One way to offer plant owners participation in different coordination processes and markets is to exploit machine identities to automate participation processes (e.g., qualification for system services, logins and logouts) and to reliably map transaction data to plant master data [166]. In the future, these processes will enable plug-and-play integration of components in the energy system and participation in different coordination processes during operation.

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

The future marketing platforms for system services must be prepared for the fact that plants providing system services will switch between different platforms and products. Markets and marketing platforms should support these switches with interfaces that can be automated, enabling logins, logouts and qualification for the appropriate system services without user interaction from the plant owner. In particular, the identification and verification of the plants involved must be automated and double marketing must be ruled out.

A competitive advantage for manufacturers may be the ability to support different products in energy and system services markets. Therefore, when developing components, the possible applications from the prosumer's point of view must be taken into account and appropriate technical options must be provided.

Key messages to political actors

Regulatory framework conditions must be created for technologically feasible and economically attractive deployment models in an energy system consisting of millions of decentralized energy conversion plants. The processes for market participation and for changing marketing variants must be automated and the associated bureaucracy removed.

The foundation created with the market master data register should be built upon. In addition to master data, transaction data will become more important in increasingly dynamic mapping between plants and marketing options.

Future market and system concepts for a decentralized energy system must be tested. Particular attention should be paid to the interoperability, scalability and security of the overall networked system.

Research on data spaces and digital identities for plants can help develop today's prescribed regulatory processes and enable system dynamization.

5.4 Focus on grid operation and planning

Power grids are the backbone of the energy system. Transmission system operators (TSOs) and distribution system operators (DSOs) are responsible for grid operation. However, this responsibility encompasses much more than simply ensuring the operational capability of technical equipment. In Germany, there are four transmission system operators who have system responsibility for operational management, i.e., procuring and providing balancing mechanisms in the event of grid fluctuations, ensuring that maintenance and expansion measures are carried out in line with demand, and organizing restarts in the event of a blackout. Distribution system operators, of which there are currently 872 in Germany, operate high-voltage, medium-voltage and low-voltage grids. They are responsible for ensuring protection, safety and security, as well as for the farsighted planning and implementation of grid expansion and connection requests and must cooperate closely with the TSO in many situations. With the introduction of Redispatch 2.0, the task of eliminating regional grid congestion will be shared between TSOs and DSOs. It is now mandatory to connect renewable energy plants and combined heat and power plants of 100 kilowatts or more in a way that can be remotely controlled for these purposes. Overall, the tasks of TSOs and DSOs are becoming significantly more complex and yet must be mapped in a structured manner in processes and interfaces — this represents an enormous challenge.

Thesis 10: Digital transformation is a core area of expertise in future power grid operations

Brief explanation

The decentralized energy transition means that the remit of distribution system operators is changing. While plants today are mostly operated passively and generally contribute only to a limited extent to system stability and security, grid operation will become more demanding in the future, and complexity will increase significantly. Grid resources can and must be configured differently depending on the weather or the time of year, for example, in order to keep the voltage within the permitted limits in the event of changing feed-in power, while failures or bottlenecks of resources can, if necessary, be remedied by connecting or disconnecting grid lines [167–169]. At the same time, the relevance of the lower voltage levels for stable operation of the power supply system is increasing significantly; separation of a distribution grid mesh from the interconnected grid has a greater impact on the higher levels than before. Passive or even blind grid operation is no longer possible and for active operational management, plants, grid levels and grid areas must be included in grid operators' digital grid models, and processes for control and coordination must be introduced. With the necessary incentive regulation in the direction of active operation and high automation, core processes, value creation and dependence on grid operators' expertise in the digital transformation are changing fundamentally. Grid operators must be prepared to set up and implement their own processes or enter into cooperative ventures.

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

The digital transformation of processes in operational management is a complex task that is particularly difficult for smaller grid operators. With limited personnel resources and a lack of expertise, these activities are outsourced or completed in cooperation with others. Smaller grid operators in particular will have to join together to form larger communities in order to share resources and expertise, exploit synergies in processes, and also to remain or become competitive with existing large grid operating companies.

Consequently, this will in all likelihood lead to consolidation. As a result of the switch to standardized, largely automated operational management processes, the core task of public utility companies and municipal grid operators in particular will essentially be to manage and operate grid elements, i.e., asset management. Dependence on digital processes and therefore on their providers is increasing significantly and is something that may become critical for independent grid operation.

Key messages to political actors

Currently, not enough is being invested in digital transformation, especially by smaller and municipal grid operators. There are a lack of inducements and opportunities when it comes to allocating and crediting costs and investments to incentivize progress in this area [170]. The joint work of the relevant stakeholders who are already involved in the digital transformation of grid operation and who will be involved in the future should also be even more motivated to make the different areas of grid operation (including the technologies in the field) more aligned and interoperable. This is an important building block for responding to the challenges of the energy transition, especially in low-voltage grids.

Model projects can be more strongly encouraged and supported, and these can then serve as a template and role model for grid operators and manufacturers. Furthermore, it is of great importance to train skilled junior staff and to further educate current personnel so that they can handle this new digital challenge.

Key recommendations for action

- 1) Greater cooperation and joint digital products among grid operators are conducive to accelerating the energy transition
- 2) In the future, incentives, funding and planning security need to be created for investments in digital transformation and to develop skills among grid operators and all other stakeholders.
- 3) To this end, we continue to propose programs for collaboration and strategic partnerships to promote acceleration through mutual exchange of experiences and best practices.
- 4) The development of expertise and expansion of personnel must happen as quickly as possible. Corresponding capacity in vocational training and higher-education programs must be expanded.

Thesis 11: Decentralized energy transition equals comprehensive digital transformation right down to the lower grid levels

Brief explanation

Distribution grids are facing significant changes. Until now, load flows were unidirectional and easy to forecast; accordingly, the grids could be planned and operated "blind". The change in the energy system from centralized large-scale power plants to small-scale volatile generation, new high-performance consumers and decentralized electricity storage systems requires dynamic, highly automated grid operational management, across all voltage levels. In particular, high voltage and extra-high voltage will increasingly require detailed information on the current and

planned operation of the superimposed and subordinate grids in the coming years. This represents a new paradigm, especially at medium-voltage and low-voltage levels. Fundamental prerequisites for active and plannable grid operation are the creation of more grid transparency and controllability, including for the low-voltage level (see also section 14a,b EnWG). The monitoring of assets and grid structures, as well as the determination of the grid status in real time, are essential functionalities that have not yet been implemented in the distribution grids due to cost/benefit considerations. A complete digital transformation of all assets, the available capacity of the grid of the current load flows, the communication interfaces as well as all necessary processes can form the necessary basis for this.

In the event of congestion or faults, the grid operator must be able to intervene. To do this, they need operating data and controlling access to relevant systems. The rapid introduction of sensors for grid status recording, including smart metering systems, is necessary to create a reliable data basis and establish a secure control channel for load flexibilization in households (see thesis 7). However, we are currently seeing data protection stand in the way of extensive and cost-efficient use of smart meter data and other data sources (IoT) for grid operation [33].

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

While transmission grids have been monitored digitally for a long time, the level of metering equipment and observability of low-voltage grids is very low [171]. Significant investment in metering, communication and control technology is necessary here. Distributed smart systems for monitoring, status determination and local power management are also future components of the digitalized grid infrastructure.

As a result, the remit of distribution system operators is changing substantially and with a high level of urgency. At the same time, incentive regulation and business models are not yet designed with this in mind. Al technologies can help, for example, to assess the status of the grid with comparatively few data points. However, metering data must also be available to all relevant stakeholders. Should the transmission system operator (TSO) assume the role of data hub, distribution of data to all relevant stakeholders would need to be ensured. These are, in particular, the DSOs, but also future third-party providers who will take over network operation and planning tasks within the digital transformation (see thesis 10).

The end-to-end digital transformation of processes in energy supply grids requires new approaches to communication and organization between all the stakeholders involved in the value chain. This will require amendments in the regulatory framework for the provision, use and availability of energy data for dynamic grid operation.

Key messages to political actors

Today, there are insufficient incentives for grid operators to invest in digitally connectable systems (smart local grid stations, smart actuators) [170]. Investment in modern metering, communication and control systems as well as in the use of AI is currently too low to be able to face future challenges. Knowledge and expertise need to be expanded in the short term and be sustainable. An overarching, binding strategy for automating distribution grids and making them more flexible is urgently needed. Market elements to leverage flexibility potential, especially on the consumption side, need to be strengthened and intensified; for example, by revising section 14a EnWG (controllable consumption devices).

- 1) Legal regulations must create incentives and planning security for investments in digitally connectable systems (e.g., smart local grid stations, metering technology, communication technology, control technology)
- 2) Clarity must be ensured between the GDPR and the necessary data collection for grid operation, and the regulatory framework for real-time monitoring must be adapted. This is particularly the case in the following areas:
 - a) Data protection
 - b) Digital metering at household level
 - c) Use of additional data sources for grid operation
 - d) Cybersecurity aspects and technical regulations
- 3) Incentives should also be provided for end users to purchase and set up controllable devices that enable generation and load management.

Thesis 12:

Timely implementation of the energy transition can only succeed by ensuring the complete digital transformation of planning and approval processes

Brief explanation

The number of grid connection requests has seen a dramatic increase in recent years. This trend is currently leading to individual software companies and start-ups [172] already providing digitalized solutions for (semi-)automated connection request processing. This still entails manual work and individual communication for the grid operator. Given the sheer scale, automation in conjunction with digital transformation is inevitable, which should also lead to a reduction in the administration work required.

That said, the tasks for grid planning are becoming increasingly complex due to the large number of decentralized energy systems. Planning and an understanding of the planning process must therefore meet the needs of the complex energy system, meaning that the planning tools must be able to solve significantly more complex tasks with more parameters to take the burden off human grid planners. Ultimately, the expansion requirements must be automatically identified as a result of the connection requests and the connection potentials. Potentially, with an end-to-end digitalized process, the processing time for a connection request can be reduced from several weeks — which is typical currently — to just a few minutes.

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

For most grid operators, manual (target) grid planning should no longer be necessary but should emerge fluidly in the future through the automation of the various processes (connection requests, approval procedures, etc.).

In municipal administrations, authority data must be digitalized and made available for use within the planning process. This means that joint development plans of all stakeholders (demographic developments, income structures, electric vehicles, etc.) must be networked in an automated approval process.

If grid operators are not able to set themselves up digitally in a timely manner and implement digital grid planning themselves, new providers from the digital environment will take over these relevant tasks and be able to perform them in a more (cost) efficient manner (see thesis 10).

Key messages to political actors

To avoid planning backlogs or bottlenecks in the processing of connection requests and in the implementation of the measures, previous administrative processes must be accelerated significantly to ensure effective and efficient grid expansion. Incentives promoting digital transformation and automation must be strengthened. An exchange of information from demographic and structural urban/rural planning and development between the states and municipalities and the respective grid operators is essential for grid expansion planning and must be integrated into energy supply.

Key recommendations for action

- 1) A comprehensive data basis for authorities/municipalities and grid operators/planners should be created in order to better coordinate future planning processes.
- Conditions and incentives must be created so that administrative processes can be automated and therefore accelerated — section 14e EnWG in particular should be taken into account here.
- 3) In order to quickly coordinate political course-setting with industry stakeholders, the implementation of initiatives such as the Federation of German Industries' "Thinking about approval processes digitally" is highly recommended, which is why these should be expanded.

5.5 Focus on cybersecurity

The digital transformation and decentralization of the energy system is accompanied by an increasing number of information and communication technology systems and components in the energy supply infrastructure. This inevitably increases the scope for attack from cyber threats and the volume and complexity of potential attack vectors on the energy system's IT and OT infrastructures. Due to the huge significance of energy supply as critical infrastructure for the economy and society, the energy system is an increasingly attractive target for white-collar crime and also politically motivated cyberattacks from state-sponsored actors. The complexity of such attacks will continue to increase and require a reorientation of cyberattack prevention. Coordinated attacks, such as advanced persistent threats (APTs), are multi-stage approaches that require the attackers to be present on the network for an extended period of time until the target is reached. Such methods of attack therefore require new approaches and orientations in the field of energy system cybersecurity. First and foremost, it will be necessary to increase the robustness of IT and OT infrastructures against attacks. This involves the creation of cyber resilience through appropriate methods and procedures, as well as structural redundancy, especially when it comes to the necessary communication in the energy system.

Thesis 13: Cyber resilience will replace cybersecurity

Brief explanation

The concept of cyber resilience assumes that fully securing information technology (IT) and operational technology (OT) infrastructures against cyberattacks will not be possible, and that advanced attackers will be able to bypass any cybersecurity measures or maintain a long-term presence within systems. Therefore, it is important to ensure that critical functions remain operational even in the event of disruptions caused by adverse conditions, including cyberattacks (see NIST SP 800-160v2). Modern cyber resilience is based on a circle of five functions (NIST, The Five Functions): 1) Identifying risks and threats, 2) Protective measures, 3) Detecting attacks and incidents, 4) Responding to incidents and 5) Recovering systems and components (NIST, TN2051).

The design approach to resilience therefore complements the security approach with the addition of attack detection, response and recovery. The idea is primarily driven by the fact that security mechanisms fail, systems are attacked and still need to remain in operation, or operations need to be resumed as quickly as possible.

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

Making critical energy infrastructures cyber resilient requires a fundamental understanding of energy suppliers' and grid operators' own IT/OT infrastructure. This includes basic assessments of cyberattack risks and threats, and an assessment of asset vulnerabilities and the impact of IT/OT network and component failures on the electric energy supply process.

To detect attacks, systems and processes must be established that enable concrete and efficient detection of anomalies and the penetration of attackers into the IT/OT systems. IDS systems, which will be required by law in the future, and SIEM systems can form the basis for this. Due to the current heterogeneity and the specificity of communication systems, this represents a particular challenge for OT infrastructures, such that in-depth knowledge of the infrastructures and the communication protocols is an essential requirement here.

To ensure secure operation and maintenance of primary energy supply tasks while detected or undetected cyberattacks occur, robust and semi-autonomous functionality of systems and components must be implemented. This also includes establishing the ability to respond to detected attacks through appropriate action plans and contingency systems.

To recover attacked components and systems, processes and tools must be established that enable a trustworthy state to be quickly established so that the affected systems can be made operational again.

Key messages to political actors

The paradigm shift away from the pure consideration of cybersecurity and toward cyber-resilient energy infrastructures must be accompanied accordingly with regard to legal requirements and guidelines. Here, the latest findings from security and resilience research must be incorporated into binding specifications, while at the same time, existing official structures for recording and managing incidents must be further developed and designed in such a way that all phases of the cyber resilience model are adequately considered. For example, this includes preparing companies for attack situations, including through test scenarios or coordinated stress tests in conjunction with key stakeholders in the energy market.

Key recommendations for action

In the coming years, we need a strong focus in industry and research on long-term, reliable strategies in order to deal with successful attacks, contain their effects on operational security and repair any damage. The companies concerned need both clear guidelines and contacts for consulting and implementing holistic security concepts to increase cyber resilience in their IT and OT infrastructures.

A further focus must be on the education and training of energy supply personnel. Starting with the creation of the necessary awareness, the necessary knowledge to secure infrastructures as well as cyber resilience of energy infrastructures needs to be established.

Thesis 14: Reliable energy infrastructures require reliable communication networks

Brief explanation

The operational management of our energy supply grids is becoming increasingly dependent on reliable communication infrastructure. Communication channels are already indispensable in plant and system control when integrating renewable energies and are a basic requirement for the efficient operational management of our energy supply grids. However, as the number of producers and consumers in the system grows, communication channels will become essential to maintaining operations.

This means that communication networks are increasingly becoming an integral part of the energy infrastructure. Paradigms of secure and reliable energy supply, such as the N-1 principle, must also be taken into account in the planning and operation of the necessary communication infrastructures in the future and various communication technologies (e.g., 450 megahertz as backup) will be used for this.

Significance for key stakeholders in the energy sector

Efficient options must be created to interlink the communication technology of decentralized plants in order to realize secure data transmission and integration into operational management. In the future, more information will also be available from heterogeneous data sources from the networks and transmitted via different communication channels and technologies — examples of this include IIoT data channels via LoRaWAN communication. This requires secure, encrypted and tamper-free transmission, including over public communication networks. The communication pathways must be integrated into a comprehensive monitoring system to ensure that tampering attempts and malfunctions can be detected.

For the operational management of energy supply systems, security paradigms such as the N-1 principle must also be applied to the communication pathways as an integral part of the supply infrastructure. This means setting up additional communication structures to take over data transmission when needed. The 450 megahertz radio transmission, which is being established by grid operators with a view to black start capability, can be an important building block here, but it must be ensured that coverage is as comprehensive as possible, even for smaller, decentralized networks, for example. When designing and planning such backup networks, attention must be paid to scalability in transmission bandwidth and the number of participants.

Key messages to political actors

In order to develop the communication networks accordingly and to build redundant structures, planning reliability is a basic prerequisite for grid operators and energy suppliers. To this end, questions regarding investment opportunities in such redundant structures must be clarified and made legally binding, and there is also a need for continuous further development of the legal requirements for communication security, including for new technologies and transmission pathways. This includes measures to protect communications and must take endpoints and end-to-end security into account. In addition, these communication pathways must be taken into account in the specifications for monitoring and for anomaly and attack detection.

Key recommendations for action

Communication infrastructures must be considered an integral part of critical energy supply infrastructures and paradigms such as N-1 security must also be applied in this area. This requires the use of various technologies that are optimally suited to the particular application and can provide a backup solution.

The expansion of a redundant communication infrastructure must be understood as a necessary investment in a secure and reliable energy supply and must be specified or incentivized accordingly.

By including the various communication technologies in the underlying norms and standards, system manufacturers must be encouraged to develop appropriate solutions and products.

5.6 The European dimension

Finally, the authors would like to emphasize that, in many cases, energy provision already operates at a pan-European level. In the future, the exchange of energy and flexibilities across borders both within and outside of Europe will play an even greater role (see long-term scenarios [169]). This is already particularly evident today in the current energy crisis, which can only be resolved by a joint European response [173].

However, the EU harmonization of the European energy system not only affects regulation or actual energy flows, but also the associated ICT domain. If, for example, the new IT platforms — Manually Activated Reserves Initiative (MARI) or Platform for the International Coordination of Automated Frequency Restoration and Stable System Operation (PICASSO) — enable Europewide tenders for control reserve, opportunities will arise for standardization-related process simplifications and competition-related cost reductions on a large scale. This is just one of many examples where European solutions and the development of common platforms and systems are more successful than simply national solutions. A Europe-wide networked energy system should also be accompanied by uniform IT standards and shared solutions in order to drive forward a successful pan-European energy transition [174, 175].

6 **Conclusion**

The study concentrates on five main areas of focus in the energy system where there is an urgent need for action when it comes to the digital transformation in the short to medium term (up to 2030). The authors believe that the most relevant topics for the digital transformation of the energy sector are in the areas of data economy, sector coupling, plant communication, cybersecurity and digitalized grid operation. Based on an analysis of current trends in energy sector development and digital transformation, these topics were identified as key areas of focus and confirmed in discussion with experts from industry and research. Taking the current state of the digital transformation in these areas and the potential for progression into account, a total of 14 theses have been developed to contribute to this discussion and create momentum for it to continue in the coming years. To this end, the significance for individual key stakeholders for each thesis and more concrete recommendations for action have been derived. The recommendations for action are addressed to the various stakeholders within the energy sector, as well as to political decisionmakers, so that they can be echoed across the board in the upcoming decision-making processes.

In the future, a data-centric view will be particularly important as an essential component of a digitalized energy sector, but to achieve this — first and foremost — more data must be collected, and then made transferable, as cost-effectively as possible. This approach involves plant communication, which still accounts for a significant part of the costs of digital transformation projects. By using existing data channels, open interfaces for interoperable data exchange and extensive automation when setting up communication solutions (plug and play), plant communication complexity can be drastically reduced, and data-based business models can become profitable much more quickly. Here, it is important that the many stakeholders in the energy sector work together and form data-driven value creation networks. In this context, a shared data economy creates value for all stakeholders usually do not have access to. The information gained from this enables ecological and cost-effective optimization of the energy system.

As a regulated part of the energy sector, grid operation in particular faces its own specific challenges. As yet, the current incentive regulation has not been geared toward the digital transformation as a core component to the necessary extent (in addition to the urgently needed grid expansion). Consequently, the traditional asset business of grid operators focuses on long-term investments and therefore tends to focus on standardized and proven technologies. As it boasts much faster development cycles, digital transformation often creates considerable tension in this regard. Nevertheless, there is very much a need for grid operation to undergo extensive digital transformation, especially at the lower grid levels, in order to meet the new requirements. Digital transformation is therefore becoming a new core area of expertise for grid operation, which, in addition to affecting operational processes, also has an impact on time-critical planning and approval processes. In particular, the BNetzA, the BMWK and other regulatory stakeholders are called upon to provide adequate interfaces for these processes.

The energy sector is not just the electricity sector. Accordingly, the digital transformation must play a key role in particular where there is a crossover with other sectors, as well as within these other sectors themselves. Efficient sector coupling requires a cross-sector view of processes and an exchange of the associated data. Research projects show that renewable energies can be integrated more efficiently through interoperability and controllability, but — at the same time there are a lack of incentives or regulatory hurdles stand in the way of enabling concepts for combining local energy generation with CO_2 -free heat supply in heating networks at district level, for example. With revised regulation, feasible cross-sector business models could already be possible today. The heating sector in particular has a great deal of ground to make up in terms of digital transformation, as there is significant potential in the area of district heating as well as in the optimization of properties. This potential can be leveraged with the aid of networked, renewable heating concepts.

The energy system represents a critical infrastructure, so the issues of energy supply security and cybersecurity are of particular importance. Data networks must be awarded critical infrastructure status comparable with that of energy supply grids. In addition to traditional cybersecurity, the approach of cyber resilience will become more relevant in the future, as due to the huge potential for attacks, it cannot merely be assumed that a system is protected against any and all failures and tampering attempts. Accordingly, systems must be created that can resiliently handle attacks and disruptions.

In summary, the authors believe that digital transformation is integral to implementing the energy transition. A timely and economically viable transformation of the entire energy supply is only possible through consistent digital transformation of the entire value chain. Consequently, delays in the digital transformation will also lead to delays in the entire energy transition. This correlation must be taken into account, especially in the coming phase of system transformation, if the decarbonization of all sectors is to succeed in a timely manner. To this end, it is important that expertise in the digital transformation is significantly boosted across the entire industry over the next few years and that energy companies and public authorities view the digital transformation as an essential core area of expertise. Despite their necessity, not all technologies generated by the IT sector are relevant in the energy system. The digital transformation is, and will remain, an important tool and does not have a purpose in and of itself. This makes it necessary to balance the technological possibilities with the needs of the energy sector during every step that is taken.
7 List of figures

Figure 1:	Electricity generation in Germany in 2030 and 2050 by energy source	11
Figure 2:	Transformation in the industrial sector by energy source and final energy demand in Germany up to 2050	12
Figure 3:	Scenarios for the transformation of the energy demand in transportation up to 2050	14
Figure 4:	Scenarios for the transformation of the energy demand in heating for buildings up to 2050	16
Figure 5:	Expansion of the transmission grid and cross-border interconnectors by 2050	18

8 **Bibliography**

- [1] European Commission. "Powering a climate-neutral economy: An EU Strategy for Energy System Integration." COM(2020) 299. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri= COM:2020:299:FIN
- [2] United Nations Climate Change, Hg., "The Paris Agreement," Zugriff am: 20. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_agreement.pdf
- Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Klimaschutz (BMWK). "Überblickspapier Osterpaket." https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Downloads/Energie/0406_ueberblickspapier_osterpaket.html (Zugriff am: 23-09.2022).
- [4] European Commission. "REPowerEU Plan, COM(2022) 230 final." https://eur-lex.europa.eu/ legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM%3A2022%3A230%3AFIN&qid=1653033742483 (Zugriff am: 23. Sep. 2022).
- [5] Elia Group, Hg., "Towards a consumer-centric and sustainalbe electricity system: A white paper on a consumer-centric market design to unleash competition behind the meter," Jun. 2021. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.eliagroup.eu/-/media/project/elia/shared/ documents/elia-group/publications/studies-and-reports/20210618_elia_ccmd-white-paper_ en.pdf
- [6] ENTSO-E, Hg., "Electric Vehicle Integration into Power Grids," Mrz. 2021. Zugriff am: 20. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://eepublicdownloads.entsoe.eu/cleandocuments/Publications/Position%20papers%20and%20reports/210331_Electric_Vehicles_ integration.pdf
- [7] Bundesministerium für Digitales und Verkehr (BMVI), Masterplan Ladeinfrastruktur II der Bundesregierung auf der Zielgeraden, 2022. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.bmvi.de/SharedDocs/DE/Anlage/K/presse/pm-048-anlage.pdf?__blob= publicationFile
- [8] Greenflux. "Smartest in EV charging solutions." https://www.greenflux.com/ (Zugriff am: 20. Sep. 2022).
- [9] E. Brunken *et al.,* "Systemsicherheit 2050: Systemdienstleistungen und Aspekte der Stabilität im zukünftigen Stromsystem," Apr. 2020. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.dena.de/ fileadmin/dena/Publikationen/PDFs/2020/dena_Systemsicherheit_2050_LANG_WEB.pdf
- [10] H. Seidl et al., "Dena-Netzflex-Studie: Optimierter Einsatz von Speichern für Netz und Marktanwendungen in der Stromversorgung," Berlin, Mrz. 2017. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.dena.de/fileadmin/dena/Dokumente/Pdf/9191_dena_ Netzflexstudie.pdf
- [11] M. Antretter *et al.*, "Digitalisation of Energy Flexibility," Mai. 2022, doi: 10.2833/113770. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://op.europa.eu/de/publication-detail/-/publication/c230dd32-a5a2-11ec-83e1-01aa75ed71a1/language-en
- [12] TenneT TSO GmbH. "Innovationen in der Systemführung bis 2030." https://www.innosys2030.de/
- [13] O. D. Doleski, Hg. Herausforderung Utility 4.0: Wie sich die Energiewirtschaft im Zeitalter der Digitalisierung verändert. Wiesbaden, Heidelberg: Springer Vieweg, 2017.

- [14] T. Meister, "Kooperative Energiewende: Die Bedeutung von lokalen Governance-Strukturen für Energiegenossenschaften in Deutschland," Dissertation, Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät, Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, Bonn, 2021. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://bonndoc.ulb.uni-bonn.de/xmlui/handle/20.500.11811/9320
- [15] J. Bergner, R. Hoelger und B. Praetorius, "Nutzung von Steckersolargeräten 2022: Ergebnisse einer Umfrage zu kleinsten Photovoltaik-Geräten," Fachbereich 3 – Wirtschaftswissenschaften, Berlin, Technisches Arbeitspapier (TAP) 3 - Version 1.0, Mai. 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://solar.htw-berlin.de/wp-content/uploads/BERGNER-2022-Nutzungs-Studie-Steckersolar.pdf
- [16] K. Treichel, M. Blum und M. Kowarsch, "Bürgersichten auf zukünftige Energiewelten: Ergebnisse der Ariadne-Bürgerkonferenz," Potsdam, Kopernikus-Projekt Ariadne - Ariadne Report, Jul. 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://ariadneprojekt.de/media/2022/07/Ariadne-Report_Buergerkonferenz-Energiewende_Juli2022.pdf
- [17] EY, "Barometer Digitalisierung der Energiewende: Digitalisierung 2020," 2021.
- [18] L. Kratochwill, P. Richard, L. Babilon und e. al, *dena-Analyse. Künstliche Intelligenz vom Hype zur energiewirtschaftlichen Realität.* Berlin: Deutsche Energie-Agentur.
- [19] T. Almomani, S. Englberger, A. Jossen und R. Witzmann, "Aggregating Residential Energy Storages and Electric Vehicles Through Peer-To-Peer Local Energy Markets in Low Voltage Distribution Grids," in NEIS 2021: Conference on Sustainable Energy Supply and Energy Storage Systems : 13-14 Sept. 2021, 2021. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/ stamp/stamp.jsp?tp=&arnumber=9698268
- [20] D. Peper, S. Längle, M. Muhr, T. Reuther und C. Kost, "Photovoltaik- und Batteriespeicherzubau in Deutschland in Zahlen: Auswertung des Markstammdatenregisters," Freiburg, Aug. 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.ise.fraunhofer.de/content/dam/ise/de/ documents/presseinformationen/2022/Kurzpapier_Strukturelle_Entwicklungen_V14.pdf
- [21] M. Antretter *et al.* "Digitalisation of energy flexibility." https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2833/ 113770
- [22] E. Dörre, S. Pfaffel, A. Dreher, P. Girón, S. Heising und K. Wiedemann, "Flexibility Reserve of Self-Consumption Optimized Energy Systems in the Household Sector," *Energies*, Jg. 14, Nr. 11, S. 3017, 2021, doi: 10.3390/en14113017.
- [23] B. Faessler, "Stationary, Second Use Battery Energy Storage Systems and Their Applications: A Research Review," *Energies*, Jg. 14, Nr. 8, S. 2335, 2021, doi: 10.3390/en14082335.
- [24] G. Mor *et al.,* "Operation and energy flexibility evaluation of direct load controlled buildings equipped with heat pumps," *Energy and Buildings*, Jg. 253, S. 111484, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2021.111484. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378778821007684
- [25] A. C. Mulkern. "California Faces Summer Blackouts from Climate Extremes." https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/california-faces-summer-blackouts-from-climate-extremes/ (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [26] Bundesumweltministeriums. "Green IT." https://www.bmuv.de/themen/nachhaltigkeit-digitalisierung/konsum-und-produkte/produktbereiche/green-it (Zugriff am: 31. Aug. 2022).
- [27] Murugesan San, "Harnessing Green IT: Principles and Practices," *IT Professional*, Jg. 10, Nr. 1, S. 24–33, 2008, doi: 10.1109/MITP.2008.10.
- [28] G. Carvalho und E. Kazim, "Themes in data strategy: thematic analysis of 'A European Strategy for Data' (EC)," *AI Ethics*, Jg. 2, Nr. 1, S. 53–63, 2022, doi: 10.1007/s43681-021-00102-y.

- [29] B. Otto, "GAIA-X and IDS," 2021, doi: 10.5281/zenodo.5675897.
- [30] GitHub. "International Data Spaces Association." https://github.com/International-Data-Spaces-Association/ (Zugriff am: 31. Aug. 2022).
- [31] A. Weis et al. "GXFS-DE." https://www.gxfs.eu/de/gxfs-de/ (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [32] Robert Koch-Institut. "So funktioniert die Corona-Warn-App im Detail." https://www.rki.de/ DE/Content/InfAZ/N/Neuartiges_Coronavirus/WarnApp/Funktion_Detail.pdf?__blob=publicationFile (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [33] H.-A. Krebs und P. Hagenweiler, Innovationen und künstliche Intelligenz entlang der energiewirtschaftlichen Wertschöpfungskette unter Berücksichtigung der Datensicherheit und des Datenschutzes. Kassel, 2021.
- [34] Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Klimaschutz (BMWK), Hg., "Digitalisierung der Wirtschaft in Deutschland," Berlin, Jan. 2022. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Publikationen/Digitalisierungsindex/publikationdownload-Langfassung-digitalisierungsindex-2021.pdf
- [35] V. Brühl, "Bitcoins, Blockchain und Distributed Ledgers," *Wirtschaftsdienst*, Jg. 97, Nr. 2, S. 135–142, 2017, doi: 10.1007/s10273-017-2096-3.
- [36] J. Sedlmeir, H. U. Buhl, G. Fridgen und R. Keller, "Ein Blick auf aktuelle Entwicklungen bei Blockchains und deren Auswirkungen auf den Energieverbrauch," *Informatik Spektrum*, Jg. 43, Nr. 6, S. 391–404, 2020, doi: 10.1007/s00287-020-01321-z.
- [37] M. A. Nielsen und I. L. Chuang, *Quantum Computation and Quantum Information*. Cambridge University Press, 2012.
- [38] A. W. Cross, L. S. Bishop, S. Sheldon, P. D. Nation und J. M. Gambetta, "Validating quantum computers using randomized model circuits," 2018. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.1811.12926. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://arxiv.org/pdf/1811.12926
- [39] K. Rolston-Duce. "Demonstrating Benefits of Quantum Upgradable Design Strategy: System Model H1-2 First to Prove 2,048 Quantum Volume." https://www.quantinuum.com/pressrelease/demonstrating-benefits-of-quantum-upgradable-design-strategy-system-model-h1-2first-to-prove-2-048-quantum-volume (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [40] S. Endo, Z. Cai, S. C. Benjamin und X. Yuan, "Hybrid Quantum-Classical Algorithms and Quantum Error Mitigation," J. Phys. Soc. Jpn., Jg. 90, Nr. 3, S. 32001, 2021, doi: 10.7566/JPSJ.90.032001.
- [41] C. Dalyac *et al.,* "Qualifying quantum approaches for hard industrial optimization problems. A case study in the field of smart-charging of electric vehicles," *EPJ quantum technology*, Early Access. doi: 10.1140/epjqt/s40507-021-00100-3.
- [42] A. Luckow, J. Klepsch und J. Pichlmeier, "Quantum Computing: Towards Industry Reference Problems," 2021, doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2103.07433.
- [43] C. Berger *et al.,* "Quantum technologies for climate change: Preliminary assessment," 2021, doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2107.05362.
- [44] Oxford University Press. "Oxford Reference: artificial intelligence." https://www.oxfordreference.com/view/10.1093/oi/authority.20110803095426960 (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [45] L. Vogel, M. Klobasa, S. Pelka und P. Plötz. "Künstliche Intelligenz für die integrierte Energiewende." https://www.dena.de/fileadmin/dena/Publikationen/PDFs/2019/dena-ANALYSE_Kuenstliche_Intelligenz_fuer_die_integrierte_Energiewende.pdf (Zugriff am: 9. Nov. 2019).

- [46] BDEW Bundesverband der Energie- und Wasserwirtschaft. "Künstliche Intelligenz für die Energiewirtschaft." https://www.bdew.de/media/documents/BDEW_KI_LAUNCH_2406_1ADi-AzP.pdf (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [47] L. Richter *et al.,* "Artificial Intelligence for Electricity Supply Chain automation," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, Jg. 163, S. 112459, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2022.112459.
- [48] Bundesnetzagentur für Elektrizität, Gas, Telekommunikation, Post und Eisenbahnen, Bundesnetzagentur veröffentlicht Netzabdeckung mit 5G. Bonn, 2021. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.bundesnetzagentur.de/SharedDocs/Pressemitteilungen/DE/2021/20211209_ 5GMonitoring.html
- [49] V. Stich, J. Hicking, M.-F. Stroh, M. Abbas, S. Kremer und L. Henke, "Digitalisierung der Wirtschaft in Deutschland: Technologie- und Trendradar 2021," Berlin, Studie im Rahmen des Projekts "Entwicklung und Messung der Digitalisierung der Wirtschaft am Standort Deutschland" im Auftrag des Bundesministeriums für Wirtschaft und Energie, Okt. 2021. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.de.digital/DIGITAL/Redaktion/DE/Digitalisierungsindex/Publikationen/publikation-download-technologie-trendradar-2021.pdf?_blob=publicationFile& v=3
- [50] SpaceX. "Das fortschrittlichste Breitbandsatelliteninternet der Welt." https://www.starlink.com /technology (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [51] N. Pachler, I. del Portillo, E. F. Crawley und B. G. Cameron, "An Updated Comparison of Four Low Earth Orbit Satellite Constellation Systems to Provide Global Broadband," in 2021 IEEE International Conference on Communications workshops (ICC workshops): Proceedings : virtual conference, 14-23 June 2021, Montreal, QC, Canada, 2021, S. 1–7, doi: 10.1109/ICCWorkshops50388.2021.9473799.
- [52] N. S. Chilamkurthy, O. J. Pandey, A. Ghosh, L. R. Cenkeramaddi und H.-N. Dai, "Low-Power Wide-Area Networks: A Broad Overview of Its Different Aspects," *IEEE Access*, Jg. 10, S. 81926–81959, 2022, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2022.3196182.
- [53] 450connect. "Ausfallsichere Kommunikaiton für kritische Infrastrukturen." https:// www.450connect.de/ (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [54] Bundesministerium der Justiz. "Datenschutzgrundverordnung." https://www.bmj.de/DE/Themen/FokusThemen/DSGVO/DSVGO_node.html (Zugriff am: 31. Aug. 2022).
- [55] "Deal on Digital Markets Act: ensuring fair competition and more choice for users | News |
 European Parliament." https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/press-room/
 20220315IPR25504/deal-on-digital-markets-act-ensuring-fair-competition-and-more choice-for-users (Zugriff am: 31. Aug. 2022).
- [56] Wirtschaft und Klimaschutz, Bundesministerium für. "Europäische Einigung auf Plattformgesetz – Gesetz für Digitale Dienste ist wichtiger Schritt zur Sicherung eines freien und demokratischen Internets." https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilungen/2022/04/ 20220423-europeaische-einigung-auf-plattformgesetz.html (Zugriff am: 31. Aug. 2022).
- [57] Gestaltung der digitalen Zukunft Europas. "Europäisches Daten-Governance-Gesetz." https:// digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/de/policies/data-governance-act (Zugriff am: 31. Aug. 2022).
- [58] European Commission, *Datengesetz: Maßnahmen für eine faire und innovative Datenwirtschaft*, 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/ de/ip_22_1113

- [59] S. L. School. "EU Artificial Intelligence Act: The European Approach to AI | Stanford Law School." https://law.stanford.edu/publications/eu-artificial-intelligence-act-the-european-approach-to-ai/ (Zugriff am: 31. Aug. 2022).
- [60] European Commission. "LAYING DOWN HARMONISED RULES ON ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE (ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE ACT) AND AMENDING CERTAIN UNION LEGISLATIVE ACTS." https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:52021SC0084&from=EN (Zugriff am: 31. Aug. 2022).
- [61] European Commission. "The Digital Markets Act: ensuring fair and open digital markets." https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/europe-fit-digital-age/digital-markets-act-ensuring-fair-and-open-digital-markets_en (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [62] European Union, Hg., "Data Governance Act," Mai. 2022. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022.
 [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri= CELEX:32022R0868&from=EN
- [63] European Commission. "COMMISSION STAFF WORKING DOCUMENT IMPACT ASSESSMENT REPORT: Accompanying the document Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on harmonised rules on fair access to and use of data Data Act." https:// digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/library/impact-assessment-report-and-support-studies-accompanying-proposal-data-act (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [64] European Commission. "Artificial Intelligence Act." https://eur-lex.europa.eu/resource.html? uri=cellar:e0649735-a372-11eb-9585-01aa75ed71a1.0001.02/DOC_1&format=PDF (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [65] European Commission. "Working document on data spaces." https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/library/staff-working-document-data-spaces (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [66] European Commission. "The EU's Cybersecurity Strategy for the Digital Decade." https:// ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_20_2391 (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [67] European Commission. "Proposal for a COUNCIL REGULATION on establishing the European High Performance Computing Joint Undertaking." https://eur-lex.europa.eu/resource.html? uri=cellar:8c6b6f7e-f98c-11ea-b44f-01aa75ed71a1.0001.02/DOC_1&format=PDF (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [68] European Union. "European Union scheme for rating the smart readiness of buildings." https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32020R2155&from=en (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [69] European Commission. "Proposal on Common European data spaces." https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/library/staff-working-document-data-spaces (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [70] European Commission. "Renewable energy directive (RED III)." https://energy.ec.europa.eu/ topics/renewable-energy/renewable-energy-directive-targets-and-rules/renewable-energydirective_en (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [71] "New European Interoperability Framework Promoting seamless services and data flows for European public administrations," 2017. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://ec.europa.eu/isa2/sites/default/files/eif_brochure_final.pdf
- [72] BDEW Bundesverband der Energie- und Wasserwirtschaft, Hg., "Digital@EVU 2021 Wie ist der Stand der digitalen Transformation in der Energiewirtschaft?," 2021. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.bdew.de/media/documents/DigitalEVU_ 2021_-_Stand_der_digitalen_Transformation_in_der_Energiewirtschaft_vF.pdf

- [73] Bundesverband der Energie- und Wasserwirtschaft e.V. (bdew), Hg., "Arbeitswelt der Zukunft im Energiesektor: Was zu tun ist, um den digitalen Wandel erfolgreich zu gestalten," Berlin, Jun. 2021. Zugriff am: 20. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.capgemini.com/de-de/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2021/06/BDEW_Capgemini_Arbeitswelt_der_ Zukunft.pdf
- [74] Bundesverband der Energie- und Wasserwirtschaft e.V., Hg., "Digitale Transformation für die Energiewende – Energiewende für die digitale Transformation," Berlin, Sep. 2021. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022.
- [75] Bundesamt für Sicherheit in der Informationstechnik (BSI). "Technische Richtlinie (BSI-TR-03109-1)." https://www.bsi.bund.de/DE/Themen/Unternehmen-und-Organisationen/Standards-und-Zertifizierung/Smart-metering/Smart-Meter-Gateway/TechnRichtlinie/TR_03109-1_node.html (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [76] Bundesamt für Sicherheit in der Informationstechnik (BSI). "Übersicht Schutzprofile und Technische Richtlinien." https://www.bsi.bund.de/DE/Themen/Unternehmen-und-Organisationen/ Standards-und-Zertifizierung/Smart-metering/Uebersicht-Schutzprofile-und-TR/uebersichtschutzprofile-und-tr.html (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [77] S. Seim, P. Verwiebe, K. Blech, C. Gerwin und J. Müller-Kirchenbauer, "Die Datenlandschaft der deutschen Energiewirtschaft: Working Paper Energie und Ressourcen," Nov. 2019. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.er.tu-berlin.de/fileadmin/ a38331300/Dateien/Seim_Verwiebe_Blech_Gerwin_M%C3%BCller-Kirchenbauer_2019_-_Die_Datenlandschaft_der_dt_Energiewirtschaft_FG_E_R_TU_Berlin.pdf
- [78] LEW Verteilnetz GmbH, Hg., "connect+ Netzbetreiberkooperation: Implementation Guidelines," Version: 2.06, Jul. 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://netz-connectplus.de/wpcontent/uploads/2022/08/Implementation_Guidelines_2_06.pdf
- [79] L. Knüsel und P. Richard, "Die Datenökonomie in der Energiewirtschaft: Eine Analyse der Ausgangslage und Wege in die Zukunft der Energiewirtschaft durch die Datenökonomie," Berlin, Jul. 2022. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.dena.de/ fileadmin/dena/Publikationen/PDFs/2022/ANALYSE_Die_Datenoekonomie_in_der_Energiewirtschaft.pdf
- [80] B. Otto, S. Steinbuß, A. Teuscher und S. Lohmann, "Reference architecture model," Apr. 2019. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://internationaldataspaces.org/use/reference-architecture/
- [81] Gaia-x, Hg., "Gaia-x Architecture Document," Apr. 2022. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022.
 [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://gaia-x.eu/publication/gaia-x-architecture-document-22-04-release
- [82] IDSA. "BDVA, FIWARE, GAIA-X and IDSA Launch Alliance to Accelerate Business Transformation in the Data Economy: Data Spaces Business Alliance - Unleashing the Data Economy." https://internationaldataspaces.org/bdva-fiware-gaia-x-and-idsa-launch-alliance-to-accelerate-business-transformation-in-the-data-economy (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [83] IDSA. "OMEGA-X: An Energy Data Space to boost the European data economy." https://internationaldataspaces.org/omega-x-an-energy-data-space-to-boost-the-european-data-economy/ (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [84] Platoon. "Platoon: Website of the H2020 PLATOON project." (Zugriff am: 15. Sep. 2022).

- [85] V. Berkhout, C. Frey, A. Borcherding, J. Gelhaar und J. Schneider. "EnDaSpace moderne Datenökonomie in der Energiewirtschaft." https://www.iee.fraunhofer.de/de/projekte/suche/ 2021/EnDaSpace.html (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [86] S. Kharboutli, S. Flemming und P. Bretschneider, "*Sektorenkopplung*" (Schriftenreihe Tiefenbohrung). Aachen: Wissenschaftliche Begleitforschung_ENERGIEWENDEBAUEN, RWTH Aachen University, Lehrstuhl für Gebäude- und Raumklimatechnik, 2018.
- [87] H. Nymoen, T. Kimpel und C. Kaschade, "Initiative "Bidirektionales Laden": Positionspapier zu notwendigen regulatorischen Anpassungen im Kontext des bidirektionalen Ladens," Mrz. 2022. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://ceco.de/user/pages/ downloads/14.bidirektionales-laden-von-eautos-als-schlussel-zur-flexibilisierung-des-energiesystems/Initiative%20Bidirektionales%20Laden%20Positionspapier%20M%C3%A4rz%202022.pdf
- [88] P. Richard und L. Vogel, "Elektromobilität in der digitalen Energiewelt: Beitrag der Digitalisierung zur kundenorientierten Einbindung der Elektromobilität im integrierten Energiesystem," Berlin, Dez. 2017. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https:// www.dena.de/fileadmin/dena/Dokumente/Pdf/9249_Positionspapier_Elektromobilitaet_in_ der_digitalen_Energiewelt.pdf
- [89] "Netzintegration von Elektromobilität Branchenübergreifender Konsens und Aufgaben für die 20. Legislaturperiode," Okt. 2021. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.plattform-zukunft-mobilitaet.de/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/NPM_ AG5_Netzintegration.pdf
- [90] J. Wiesenthal, Aretzm Astrid, N. Ouanes und K. Petrick, "Energy Sharing: Eine Potenzialanalyse: Gemeinschaftlich Strom im Verteilnetz erzeugen und nutzen: Eine Studie zum Umsetzungsvorschlag im Rahmen von Artikel 22 der Erneuerbare-Energien-Richtlinie der EU," Berlin, Gutachten im Auftrag des Bündnisses für Bürgerenergie e.V., Mai. 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.ioew.de/fileadmin/user_upload/BILDER_und_Downloaddateien/Publikationen/2022/Energy_Sharing_Eine_Potenzialanalyse_1.pdf
- [91] Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Klimaschutz (BMWK), Gesetz zur Digitalisierung der Energiewende, 2016. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https:// www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Downloads/Gesetz/gesetz-zur-digitalisierung-der-energiewende.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=4
- [92] Bundesministerium der Justiz, *Gesetz über den Messstellenbetrieb und die Datenkommunikation in intelligenten Energienetzen 1*, 2022. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/messbg/
- [93] Bundesamt für Sicherheit in der Informationstechnik (BSI). "Zertifizierte Produkte Intelligente Messsysteme." https://www.bsi.bund.de/DE/Themen/Unternehmen-und-Organisationen/Standards-und-Zertifizierung/Smart-metering/Smart-Meter-Gateway/Zertifikate24Msbg/produkte.html (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [94] Bundesamt für Sicherheit in der Informationstechnik (BSI). "Zertifikatsnachweise nach § 25 MsbG." https://www.bsi.bund.de/DE/Themen/Unternehmen-und-Organisationen/Standardsund-Zertifizierung/Smart-metering/Administration-und-Betrieb/Zertifikate25Msbg/zertifikate25MsbG_node.html (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [95] Bundesamt für Sicherheit in der Informationstechnik (BSI). "Technische Vorgaben für intelligente Messsysteme und deren sicherer Betrieb." https://www.bsi.bund.de/DE/Themen/Unternehmen-und-Organisationen/Standards-und-Zertifizierung/Technische-Richtlinien/TR-nach-Thema-sortiert/tr03109/TR-03109_node.html (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).

- [96] Bundesnetzagentur, Hg., "Geschäftsprozesse zur Kundenbelieferung mit Elektrizität (GPKE),"
 2020. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.bundesnetzagentur.de/DE/Beschlusskammern/BK06/BK6_83_Zug_Mess/831_gpke/gpke_node.html
- [97] Bundesnetzagentur, Hg., "Wechselprozesse im Messwesen (WiM)," 2020. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.bundesnetzagentur.de/DE/Beschlusskammern/BK06/BK6_83_Zug_Mess/834_wim/BK6_WiM_node_neu.html
- [98] Bundesamt für Sicherheit in der Informationstechnik (BSI) und Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie (BMWi), Hg., "Stufenmodell zur Weiterentwicklung der Standards für die Digitalisierungder Energiewende," Zugriff am: 20. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.bsi.bund.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/BSI/SmartMeter/Stufenmodell/Anhang.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=5
- [99] Handelsblatt. "Halbherziger Start: Energieunternehmen kri-tisieren die deutsche Smart-Meter-Strategie." https://www.handelsblatt.com/unternehmen/energie/intelligente-stromzaehler-halbherziger-start-energieunternehmen-kritisieren-die-deutsche-smart-meter-strategie/ 28033840.html (Zugriff am: 20. Sep. 2022).
- [100] Bundesverband neue Energiewirtschaft (bne). "bne-Pressemitteilung: Graichen kündigt Entbürokratisierungspaket bis Ende 2022 an." https://www.bne-online.de/de/news/detail/bne-pressemitteilung-graichen-kuendigt-entbuerokratisierungspaket-bis-ende-2022-an/ (Zugriff am: 20. Sep. 2022).
- [101] Netzgesellschaft Düsseldorf mbH. "Rundsteuertechnik: Netzgesellschaft Düsseldorf erneuert Rundsteuertechnologie im Düsseldorfer Stadtgebiet." https://www.netz-duesseldorf.de/zaehler/rundsteuertechnik/ (Zugriff am: 23. Sep. 2022).
- [102] connect+. "Kooperation." https://netz-connectplus.de/home/projekt/ (Zugriff am: 20. Sep. 2022).
- [103] connect+. "Implementation Guide." https://netz-connectplus.de/home/downloads/ (Zugriff am: 20. Sep. 2022).
- [104] Offis. "RD 3.0." https://www.offis.de/offis/projekt/rd30.html (Zugriff am: 20. Sep. 2022).
- [105] Bundesnetzagentur für Elektrizität, Gas, Telekommunikation, Post und Eisenbahnen und Bundeskartellamt, Hg., "Monitoringbericht 2021: Monitoringbericht gemäß § 63 Abs. 3 i. V. m. § 35 EnWG und § 48 Abs. 3 i. V. m. § 53 Abs. 3 GWB," Bonn, Dez. 2021. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.bundesnetzagentur.de/SharedDocs/Mediathek/Monitoringberichte/ Monitoringbericht_Energie2021.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=2
- [106] CrowdStrike. "2022 Global Thread Report: Anpassen und Durchhalten: Eine tiefgehende Analyse der wichtigsten Ereignisse und Trends in der Cybersicherheit." https:// www.crowdstrike.de/ressourcen/reports/global-threat-report/ (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [107] R. M. Lee, M. J. Assante und T. Conway, "Analysis of the Cyber Attack on the Ukrainian Power Grid: Defense Use Case," Mrz. 2016. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://ics.sans.org/media/E-ISAC_SANS_Ukraine_DUC_5.pdf
- [108] Dragos. "CHERNOVITE's PIPEDREAM Malware Targeting Industrial Control Systems (ICS)." (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [109] BDEW Bundesverband der Energie- und Wasserwirtschaft. "Whitepaper: Anforderungen an sichere Steuerungs - und Telekommunikationssysteme: Requirements for Secure Control and Telecommunication Systems." https://www.bdew.de/media/documents/Awh_ 20180507_OE-BDEW-Whitepaper-Secure-Systems.pdf (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).

- [110] Bundesamt für Sicherheit in der Informationstechnik (BSI), Das IT-Sicherheitsgesetz -Kritische Infrastrukturen schützen, 2016.
- [111] BSI Bundesamt für Sicherheit in der Informationstechnik, Hg., "Das Smart-Meter-Gateway. Cyber-Sicherheit für die Digitalisierung der Energiewirtschaft," Bonn, Mai. 2022. Zugriff am: 19. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.bsi.bund.de/Shared-Docs/Downloads/DE/BSI/Publikationen/Broschueren/Smart-Meter-Gateway.pdf?__blob= publicationFile&v=6
- [112] Bundesministerium der Justiz, *Verordnung zur Bestimmung Kritischer Infrastrukturen nach dem BSI-Gesetz (BSI-Kritisverordnung BSI-KritisV*), 2016. Zugriff am: 20. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/bsi-kritisv/BJNR095800016.html
- [113] Bundesgesetzblatt. "Zweites Gesetz zur Erhöhung der Sicherheit infromationstechnischer Systeme." https://www.bgbl.de/xaver/bgbl/start.xav?startbk=Bundesanzeiger_BGBl&start=//*%5B@attr_id=%27bgbl121s1122.pdf%27%5D#_bgbl_%2F%2F*%5B%40 attr_id%3D%27bgbl121s1122.pdf%27%5D_1663612186893https://www.bgbl.de/xaver/bgbl/ start.xav?startbk=Bundesanzeiger_BGBl&start=//*%5B@attr_id=%27bgbl121s1122.pdf%27%5D#_bgbl_%2F%2F*%5B%40 attr_id%3D%27bgbl121s1122.pdf%27%5D_1663612186893 (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).
- [114] G. Luderer *et al.,* "Report: Deutschland auf dem Weg zur Klimaneutralität 2045 Szenarien und Pfade im Modellvergleich," 2021. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://ariadneprojekt.de/publikation/deutschland-auf-dem-weg-zur-klimaneutralitat-2045-szenarienreport/
- [115] G. Thomaßen, C. Redl und T. Bruckner, "Will the energy-only market collapse? On market dynamics in low-carbon electricity systems," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, Jg. 164, S. 112594, 2022. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2022.112594. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032122004907
- [116] R. Fritz, K. Winter und E. Schlee, "Simulation von Sonnenfinsternissen zur Anwendung in PV-Einspeiseprognosen: Die Wetterprognose enthält keine SoFi? Dann rechnen wir den Effekt eben selbst rein!," Fraunhofer IEE, Poster vom PV-Symposium / BIPV-Forum 2022, Jun. 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.iee.fraunhofer.de/content/dam/iee/energiesystemtechnik/de/Dokumente/Poster/2022/2022_PVsymp_Poster_RFritz_FraunhoferIEE.pdf
- [117] M. Malcher und M. Puffe. "Ein Stresstest, kein Weltuntergang: die Sonnenfinsternis 2015." BBH Blog. https://www.bbh-blog.de/alle-themen/energie/ein-stresstest-kein-weltuntergang-die-sonnenfinsternis-2015/
- [118] J. Weniger, J. Bergner, T. Tjaden und V. Quaschning, "Einfluss der Sonnenfinsternis im März 2015 auf die Solarstromerzeugung in Deutschland," Fachbereich 1 – Ingenieurwissenschaften Energie und Information, Berlin, Studie, Okt. 2014, doi: 10.13140/2.1.5190.4963.
- [119] International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA), Hg., "Innovation landscape brief: Advanced forecasting of variable renewable power generation," Abu Dhabi, 2020. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2020/Jul/ IRENA_Advanced_weather_forecasting_2020.pdf?la=en&hash= 8384431B56569C0D8786C9A4FDD56864443D10AF
- [120] Salzgitter AG. "Unser Programm SALCOS®." https://salcos.salzgitter-ag.com/de/salcos.html
- [121] A. Purkus, A. Sakhel, R. Werner und C. Maaß, "Herkunftsnachweise für Erneuerbare Energien jenseits des Stromsektors – Chancen und Herausforderungen," Hamburg, Rep. 1, 2020. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: http://hdl.handle.net/10419/231399

- [122] J. Schmidt und S. Adler, "Die digitale Lebenslaufakte Stand der Normung," in *FF-Wissenschaftstage Workshop »Digital Engineering & Operations*«, Fraunhofer-Institut für Fabrikbetrieb und -automatisierung IFF, Hg., Magdeburg, 2019.
- [123] T. Cioara *et al.*, "Exploiting data centres energy flexibility in smart cities: Business scenarios," *Information Sciences*, Jg. 476, S. 392–412, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ins.2018.07.010.
- [124] A. Kathirgamanathan, M. de Rosa, E. Mangina und D. P. Finn, "Data-driven predictive control for unlocking building energy flexibility: A review," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, Jg. 135, S. 110120, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2020.110120.
- [125] Å. Sørensen, K. B. Lindberg, I. Sartori und I. Andresen, "Analysis of residential EV energy flexibility potential based on real-world charging reports and smart meter data," *Energy and Buildings*, Jg. 241, S. 110923, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2021.110923. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378778821002073
- [126] J. Schütz, M. Uslar und M. Clausen, "Digitalisierung: Synthesebericht 3 des SINTEG Förderprogramms," Berlin, Studie im Auftrag des BMWK, Mai. 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.sinteg.de/fileadmin/media/Ergebnisberichte/SF3_Digitalisierung/20220502-SINTEG-SyF3_bf.pdf
- [127] P. Hogeveen, M. Steinbuch, G. Verbong und A. Wargers, "Revisiting static charge schedules for electric vehicles as temporary solution to low-voltage grid congestion with recent charging and grid data," *Sustainable Energy, Grids and Networks*, Jg. 31, S. 100701, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.segan.2022.100701.
- [128] S. Lehnhoff und J. Dorfner, "Redispatch 3.0," Artikel. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https:// www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Artikel/Digitale-Welt/GAIA-X-Use-Cases/redispatch-30.html
- [129] J. Li, Z. Chen, L. Cheng und X. Liu, "Energy data generation with Wasserstein Deep Convolutional Generative Adversarial Networks," *Energy*, Jg. 257, S. 124694, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2022.124694.
- [130] EUREC, Hg., ""Data Sharing" in the Renewable Energy Directive," Brüssel, Mai. 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://eurec.be/cms/wp-content/uploads/RED_III-ams-on-Data-Sharing-final-1.pdf
- [131] S. Pagliarin, D. Herrmann, D. Nicklas, H. Glückert, J. Meyer und P. Vizitiu, "Data policy models in European smart cities : Experiences, opportunities and challenges in data policies in Europe," 2022, doi: 10.20378/irb-53583.
- [132] M. D. Wilkinson *et al.,* "The FAIR Guiding Principles for scientific data management and stewardship," *Scientific data,* Early Access. doi: 10.1038/sdata.2016.18.
- [133] Guidehouse, Hg., "BLAUPAUSEN FÜR DIE ENERGIEWENDE: Executive Summary der 5 Ergebnissynthesen zum Förderprogramm SINTEG," Aug. 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.sinteg.de/fileadmin/media/Ergebnisberichte/20220811-SINTEG-ExecutiveSummary.pdf
- [134] Catena-X Automotive Network e.V., Hg., "Catena-X: The first open and collaborative data ecosystem," 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://catena-x.net/fileadmin/user_up-load/Vereinsdokumente/Catena-X_UEbersicht.pdf
- [135] DRM Datenraum Mobilität GmbH. "Mobility Data Space." https://mobility-dataspace.eu/de
- [136] E. Thyen, "Quantensprung Digitalisierung Energiewirtschaft im 21. Jahrhundert," in Herausforderung Utility 4.0: Wie sich die Energiewirtschaft im Zeitalter der Digitalisierung verändert, O. D. Doleski, Hg., Wiesbaden, Heidelberg: Springer Vieweg, 2017, S. 99–107.

- [137] VDE Verband der Elektrotechnik Elektronik Informationstechnik e.V. Energietechnische Gesellschaft (ETG), Hg., "Systematisierung der Autonomiestufen in der Netzbetriebsführung," VDE Impuls, Jul. 2020. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.vde.com/resource/blob/ 1979790/a73eec5f684abdc94ba63b03232b00d5/vde-impuls--systematisierung-der-autonomiestufen-in-der-netzbetriebsfuehrung--data.pdf
- [138] T. Schittekatte, V. Reif und L. Meeus, "Welcoming New Entrants into European Electricity Markets," *Energies*, Jg. 14, Nr. 13, S. 4051, 2021, doi: 10.3390/en14134051.
- [139] Sonnen. "Die Energie: erneuerbar. Die Gemeinschaft: unersetzlich." https://sonnen.de/ sonnencommunity/
- [140] Energy Market Solutions. "Partner für die Energiemärkte von morgen." https:// www.energymarket.solutions/
- [141] 1komma5grad. "Verbrauchernetzwerk." https://www.1komma5grad.com/de
- [142] Installion. "Die Plattform für Montage-Projekte." https://installion.eu/
- [143] S. Littlechild, "The CMA's assessment of customer detriment in the UK retail energy market," J Regul Econ, Jg. 57, Nr. 3, S. 203–230, 2020. doi: 10.1007/s11149-020-09408-x. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11149-020-09408-x
- [144] S. Enckhardt. "Bürokratie der Verteilnetzbetreiber steht vielerorts dem Anschluss kleiner Photovoltaik-Anlagen im Weg." https://www.pv-magazine.de/2022/06/20/buerokratieder-verteilnetzbetreiber-steht-vielerorts-dem-anschluss-kleiner-photovoltaik-anlagen-imweg/
- [145] bdew. "Eckpunkte des Vorschlags zur Digitalisierung und Standardisierung des Anschlussprozesses von Anlagen bis 30 kW installierter Leistung." https://www.bdew.de/media/ documents/Beschleunigung_Netzanschlussbegehren_Eckpunkte_8_EEG.pdf
- [146] J. Pohl, A. Höfner, E. Albers und F. Rohde, "Design Options for Long-lasting, Efficient and Open Hardware and Software," *ÖW*, Jg. 36, O1, S. 20–24, 2021. doi: 10.14512/OEWO360120. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://oekologisches-wirtschaften.de/ index.php/oew/article/view/1788
- [147] A. Baur *et al.,* "Strategien gegen die Flaschenhals-Rezession: Was hilft bei Lieferengpässen und steigenden Preisen," *ifo Schnelldienst*, Jg. 75, Nr. 01, S. 3–31, 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/250846
- [148] sig Media GmbH & Co. KG. "Lieferketten: Studie sieht Risiken für die Energiewirtschaft." https://www.50komma2.de/?p=29178
- [149] European Commission, Directorate-General for Communication. "European Chips Act." https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/europe-fit-digital-age/european-chips-act_en
- [150] "Forschungsprojekt IKTfree: Hochverfügbarer Verteilungsnetzbetrieb bei Störung der IKT-Infrastruktur im Smart Grid." https://www.iktfree.de/
- [151] VDE Verband der Elektrotechnik Elektronik Informationstechnik e.V. Energietechnische Gesellschaft (ETG), "7 Thesen zur Flexibilisierung des Energiesystems," 2021.
- [152] Fraunhofer CINES, Hg., "Die Deutsche Energiewende. 13 Thesen.," 2020.
- [153] frontier economics. "Sektorkopplung eine integrierte Betrachtung: Bericht für innogy SE." https://www.frontier-economics.com/media/1121/20180205_sektorkopplung-eineintegrierte-betrachtung_frontier.pdf (Zugriff am: 19. Sep. 2022).

[154] S. Kharboutli und S. Flemming, "Das Quartier als Stabilisierungsoption für das Gesamtenergiesystem.," 2018.

- [155] D.M.J. E4tech, D.C.S-K. Fraunhofer OEE, "): Das gekoppelte Energiesystem Vorschläge für eine optimale Transformation zu einer erneuerbaren und effizienten Energieversorgung," 2018.
- [156] M.-A. Triebel, A. Steingrube, G. Stryi-Hipp und P. Reggentin, "Modellierung sektorintegrierter Energieversorgung im Quartier: Untersuchung der Vorteile der Optimierung von Energiesystemen auf Quartiersebene gegenüber der Optimierung auf Gebäudeebene," Berlin, Apr. 2022. Zugriff am: 20. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https:// www.dena.de/fileadmin/dena/Publikationen/PDFs/2022/STUDIE_Modellierung_sektorintegrierter_Energieversorgung_im_Quartier.pdf
- [157] J. Bayer et al., "Zellulares Energiesystem: Ein Beitrag zur Konkretisierung des zellularen Ansatzes mit Handlungsempfehlungen," Frankfurt am Main, Mai. 2019. Zugriff am: 20. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.vde.com/resource/blob/1884494/ 98f96973fcdba70777654d0f40c179e5/studie---zellulares-energiesystem-data.pdf
- [158] M. Ahlers und M. Speulda, "Das Quartier Teil 2: Analyse des Zusammenspiels und Aufzeigen von Schwachstellen," Berlin, 2022. Zugriff am: 20. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.dena.de/fileadmin/dena/Publikationen/PDFs/2022/dena-STUDIE_ Das_Quartier_-_Teil_2.pdf
- [159] VDI Verein Deutscher Ingenieure e.V., Hg., "Bausteine für eine klimaneutrale Wärmeversorgung," 2021.
- [160] H. Averfalk *et al., Low-Temperature District Heating Implementation Guidebook: Final report of IEA DHC Annex TS2 Implementation of Low-Temperature district Heating Systems.* Stuttgart: Frauenhofer Verlag, 2021.
- [161] L. Schantey, J. Scheipers, C. Thommessen, N. Witte-Humperdinck, J. Roes und O. Verheyen. "Digitalisierung in Wärmenetzen." https://fourmanagement.salessation.com/studiedigitalisierung-waermenetze (Zugriff am: 20. Sep. 2022).

[162] AGFW - Der Effizienzverband für Wärme, Kälte und KWK e.V., Hg., "AGFW-Orientierungshilfe zur Digitalisierung in der Fernwärmebranche," Frankfurt am Main, 2019. Zugriff am: 20. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.agfw.de/securedl/sdleyJ0eXAiOiJKV1QiLCJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiJ9.eyJpYXQiOjE2NjM2NDMxNzYslmV4cCl6MTY2MzczMzE3NCwidXNlcil6MCwiZ3JvdXBzljpbMCwtMV0sImZpbGUiOiJmaWxIY-WRtaW5cL3VzZXJfdXBsb2FkXC9Gb3JzY2h1bmdfdV9Jbm5vdmF0aW9uXC9WZXJvZWZmZW5 0bGljaHVuZ2VuXC9BR0ZXLU9yaWVudGllcnVuZ3NoaWxmZV9EaWdpdGFsaX-NpZXJ1bmdfVmVyb2VmZmVudGxpY2h1bmdfZmluYWwucGRmliwicGFnZSI6NTk1fQ.xggInfQaA5MmSoq6L9WVb1NdZRUgTF-V0dh44d_gMGE/AGFW-Orientierungshilfe_Digitalisierung_Veroeffentlichung_final.pdf

- [163] W. Birk *et al.*, "Digital Roadmap for District Heating and Cooling," Jul. 2019. Zugriff am: 20. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://archive.euroheat.org/wp-content/ uploads/2018/05/Digital-Roadmap_final.pdf
- [164] H. Lund *et al.,* "4th Generation District Heating (4GDH)," *Energy*, Jg. 68, S. 1–11, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2014.02.089.
- [165] S. Copei, M. Wickert und A. Zündorf, "Implementation of a Microservice-Based Certification Platform," in *Agile Processes in Software Engineering and Extreme Programming – Workshops* (Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing), P. Gregory und P. Kruchten, Hg., Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2021, S. 186–191.

- [166] eot. "Digitale Maschinen-Identitäten Grundbaustein für ein automatisiertes und verlässliches Energiesystem." https://oil-telegram.de/news/Digitalisierung/digitale-maschinenidentitaeten-grundbaustein-fuer-ein-automatisiertes-und-verlaessliches-energiesystem (Zugriff am: 20. Sep. 2022).
- [167] Umweltbundesamt. "Energiebedingte Emmissionen." https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/daten/energie/energiebedingte-emissionen#energiebedingte-treibhausgas-emissionen (Zugriff am: 8. Aug. 2022).
- [168] Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Klimaschutz. "Deutsche Klimaschutzpolitik." https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Artikel/Industrie/klimaschutz-deutsche-klimaschutzpolitik.html (Zugriff am: 8. Aug. 2022).
- [169] F. Sensfuß et al., "Langfristszenarien für die Transformation des Energiesystems in Deutschland 3: Kurzbericht: 3 Hauptszenarien," Fraunhofer-Institut für System- und Innovationsforschung ISI, Mai. 2021.
- [170] Bundesnetzagentur, *An-reiz-re-gu-lie-rung von Strom- und Gas-netz-be-trei-bern*. Zugriff am: 20. September 2022. [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://www.bundesnetzagentur.de/ DE/Fachthemen/ElektrizitaetundGas/Netzentgelte/Anreizregulierung/start.html
- [171] H. Seidl, S. Mischinger und R. Heuke, "Beobachtbarkeit und Steuerbarkeit im Energiesystem: Handlungsbedarfsanalyse der dena-Plattform Systemdienstleistungen," Berlin, Jul. 2016.
- [172] envelio. "Netzanschluss." https://envelio.com/de/igp/netzanschluss/ (Zugriff am: 20. Sep. 2022).
- [173] Europäische Kommission, Gaseinsparungen für den Winter: Kommission schlägt Plan zur Senkung der Gasnachfrage vor, um EU auf Lieferkürzungen vorzubereiten. Brüssel, 2022.
 [Online]. Verfügbar unter: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/de/ip_22_ 4608
- [174] ENTSO-E. "Manually Activated Reserves Initiative." https://www.entsoe.eu/network_ codes/eb/mari/
- [175] ENTSO-E. "PICASSO." https://www.entsoe.eu/network_codes/eb/picasso/